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PREFACE

The reason why the author of this work turned his

^tention to the study of Kuvi, the language of the Konds,

is because he found that, though the men of the tribe

inderstood the Telugu language, their women and children

not, and so it was necessary for his work that he should

his best to master the language.

He has found its study a most interesting and pleasur-

le undertaking, for it is a very rich language. He is quite

'are that he is but a beginner in its study and that he

still much more to learn. His object in publishing this

tmmar is :
—

^st—He feels that, if his desire to popularize its study is to

be attained, would-be students will be encouraged

to make a beginning, when they find that the

language has a foundation in this Grammar, on

which they can raise their superstructure.

id—The assistance, which he feels will be rendered by the

criticisms of these students, will enable him to im-

prove his second edition by introducing new matter,

that has hitherto escaped his notice, by corrections

where necessary and by re-modelling the whole work

if this be found advisable.
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Wh en the number, who own this language as their mother

tongue, is computed, we find, by W. Francis' Gazetteer of

Vizagapatam, that there are

In Vizagapatam alone round Palkonda ... 66,000

In the Agency ... ... ... 150,000

In Jeypur ... ... ... ... 91,000

Making an admitted total of ... ... 307,000

Besides this, there are very many of this tribe living in

Kalahandi, while many more live in Orissa.

In Jeypur the recognized language of the country now is

Ooriya, but W. Francis' Gazetteer shows that 481 per mille

speak Ooriya, and 206 per mille speak Kond. Coupling the

above with the fact that Ooriya is an Aryan language and not

Dravidian, the Author is warranted in deducing therefrom his

belief that the original language of Jeypur and also of

Kalahandi was Kond.

Believing that the study of this language will be restricted

to Europeans chiefly, though perhaps educated Indian gentle-

men, who also invariably know English, may also be disposed

to study it, the Author has adopted as his model the Telugu

Grammar prepared by the Rev. A. H. Arden, m. a., and, on the

lines there laid down, has compiled this Grammar in English

characters. The Author invites any one interested in this

Kuvi language to procure his "Bible Stories'' in Telugu

characters, as also his work on " The Religion, Customs and

Folk-lore of the Kuvis."
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I.

Introductorg.

The Kond, literally the mountaineers, received their

name from the Telugu word Konda, the hill wherefore

other speUings are wrong. This tribe belongs to the

Dravidians and claims its origin from Pandu the great

king of the Konds. They were formerly living from the

Delta of Orissa to the North-west of Jeypore, inhabiting

Kalahandi and Ganjam as well as down the plains of

Vizagapatam District.

They are living both, in the Calcutta and Madras

Presidencies. The Rajah of Palkonda is considered the

head of the southern part of this tribe. In former times

they cultivated the whole of the plains, but were then

gradually pushed backwards by the advancing Aryans.

The great majority is at present living upon the hills, and

as they talk another language, which none of the Telugus

or Ooriyas understand, and as there exist many strange

and rude customs between them, they are regarded as a

semi-civilized and rude race.

There exists a great difference between the cha-

racters of the Konds and the Telugus. The Telugu is a

man, who stands his place even when left alone. The

Kond counts only as a member of his tribe. The Telugu

is not so much afraid of intrigues of men, but fears wild

beasts most. The Kond does not fear wild beasts, but



fears mosfi of all the intrigues of men. The Telugu longs

to have every day more than he had the previous day,

and stretches his arms out wide to gain more and more

influence and riches, he is an active never content man.

The Kond is quite satisfied, when he has enough for

himself, he does not think further than his own family

or village and is content, if nobody disturbs him on his

small property. On the whole, the Kond lives a simpler

^d more upright life than the Telugu does. He is still

Bore conservative than the Telugu. The Telugu is a

bright, brisk man, the Kond an emblem of stupidity and

childish silliness.

The Hauta or Nayudu of a village has great influence

and power. He rules his village as a father. All village

questions and even family matters come before him for

settlement.

The wife of a Kond is generally older than her

husband and acquires a great influence over him.

The so-called Meriahs, human sacriflces, were very

common among ttem and the destruction of new-born

Hfants

was a custom, which has still to die out.

[

The big tribe of Konds is divided into five different

classes. They claim their descent from one ancestor, the

great Pandu, who had five sons. Each caste recognizes

one of these 'sons.
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1. Mukhadora, the highest cast p.

2. Mannidora.

3. Kondadora.

4. Jatapudora or Poroja, or Kodidu or Kuvi.

5. Gadaba.

The two first castes have lost their original language

as they amalgamated with the Telugus, but each of the

three last castes has its own Janguage. The largest tribe

is that of the Jatapudoras. This tribe has its own very

fine Kuvi language, which is almost unknown to any

European or educated Indian.

This tribe numbers according to the last census of the

Vizagapatam District 66,000 inhabitants. Besides this,

there may be counted ith of the whole Jeypore population

to this tribe according to W. Francis' Gazetteer. Besides

this there is a large portion of the inhabitants of Kala-

handi belonging to this tribe and least, not last, the whole

Kui talking population in the Orissa Delta and Bengal,

so that the number of all Kuvi or Kui talking men is

well worthy of notice.

There are two dialects, called Kuvi and Kui, the

first is spoken more to the west and south-west, the latter

more in the north-eastern part of the country. As my
remarks about the Kuvi and Kui language clearly show,

they are only two dialects of a very rich fine language,

which deserves the notice and study of Europeans and

Indians.
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There are no written characters in the Kuvi lan-

guage, but I have tried to write 120 Biblical stories in

this language using Telugu characters. It would be a

very interesting undertaking to try and unify these two

dialects and evolve one Grammar therefrom. I have

attempted this in my Kuvi Grammar, and I court any

criticisms, remarks or suggestions, which will be very

thankfully accepted, as the undertaking is a serious one

id

I require all the help I can get,

: My book "Religion, Customs and Folk-lore of the

Konds" gives much interesting information and throws

new light on these people. All the stories, etc., were

collected from the Konds themselves, and therefore are

genuine.

Some remarks about the Kuvi and Kui dialect.

The Kond language is divided into many different

dialects, as : Gond, Gadaba, Konda, Saura, Kuvi, or

Kui ; of these Kuvi or Kui is the one mostly spoken.

When we differentiate between these two dialects, we

riean that Kui is spoken more in the eastern parts of

the Kond territory and Kuvi more in the western parts.

I
When comparing these two dialects of one lan-

ge, I must differ entirely from Lingam Letchmajee in

his *' Introduction to his Grammar of the Kui Language/'

w hen he says :
"

it will be strange to observe, that the
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language of the Kond's country though bordering on the

hill Zemindaris in the Ganjam District, does not bear the

least resemblance to that of these near neighbours ;" also*

when he says :
" 1 have always thought, that this (Kui)

language is a corruption of, or the primitive Telugu

itself."

The following short comparison of these " two

languages" will clearly show :
—

1. That there exists a very great resemblance of

Kui with Kuvi, yea, that *' both languages" are really

one and the same.

2. That this Kuvi language is an entirely self-

existing original language and that it has no resemblance

to Telugu as its vocabulary is entirely different from

Telugu. For each Telugu word there will be found a

different one in Kuvi. The Grammar of both languages

as well as of all Dravidian languages is nearly the same.

For this reason the Kuvi language may be learned

comparatively soon by one, who has a knowledge of the

Telugu language.

1.

The identity of both "
languages" is established by

the uniformity of their vocabulary.

KuvL KuL

keju the hand keju

keska t;he hands keska
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Kuvi. Kui.

unga
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2.

The identity of both languages is farther proved by

the uniformity of the verbal forDis, thus :
—

PRESENT TENSE.

KuvL KuL

nanu

ninu

evasi

I am
LP Ci

mai

manzi you are

mannesi he is

^ mambu mannomi we are

^ mimbu manzeri you are

evari manneri they are

anu mai

inu manzi

evanju mannenju

amu

iru

evaru

mannamu

manzeru

manneru.

Remaek 1.—Throughout the whole Grammar in Kui

instead of the affix esi, which is the affix

for the third pers. singular masculine,

there is used the affix enju.

Remark 2.—The affix for the first person plural seems

to be borrowed from Telugu. The Kuvi

affix omi appears as the original ending.

Remark 3.—The difference in the ending vowels in the

plural number appears in all similar

forms. Here again i seems to be the

original termination and w to have been

subsequently adopted owing to the influ-

ence of the Telugu language.
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Verbal Forms.

KuvL

verb root ki

verb noun present kinai

» )> past kitai

present tense kii

past tense kittee

partic-pres kini

partic-past kitti

negative partic. kia

. singular kimu
imperative 3

I plural kidu

emphatic form kikattee

to do

KuL

ginai

gitai

gii

gite

gini

giti

gia

gimu

gidu

gikate

ri

PAST TENSE.

Negative Form.

KuvL KuL

per' meh'atee I did not see meh'ate, or atenu

per' meh'ati you did not see meh'ati

per' meh'atesi meh'atenju

per' (iieh'atomi meh'atamu

per' meh'ateri meh'ateru

per' meh'ateri meh'ateru

per' meh'atn meh'atu.
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Remark 1.—The first person singular and plural again

seem to be influenced by Telugu, as nu

and mu are Telugu terminations. Kuvi

appears again as the pure Kond language.

The identity of both languages is further proved by

the personal pronoun.
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in the singular and plural should omit this

consonant. The first person singular and

plural of Kuvi appear again as the original

and pure Kond.

Remark 2.—The plural form ending in mu and ru seems

to have been formed under the influence

of Telugu, as the words meniu, mamu,

mirn, would be pure Telugu. The words

mambu and mimbu appear therefore

asrain as the oriofinal ones.

KuvL KuL
tfvA

evasi
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IKuvL
KuL

r edi, she, it eri

Singular. -I edani, of her, it erani

'^ edaniki, to her, it eraniki

r evi, they evi

PhiraL -{ evaska, they avaska, evaska

'^ evaskaki, to them avaskaki, evaskaki

Remark.—There appears a difference in the singular

number, as the consonant has been changed

into r; the phiral forms are again the

same.

Some- differences in "both dialects'* will be found,

but they appear so insignificant, that they cannot over-

throw the belief in the unity of the two dialects.

Such differences as appear between the two dialects

[
are the following :

—

I 1. The Kuvi language is harder in sound than

Kui, wherefore the consonants in Kui are very often

softer than those in Kuvi. Thus:—

Kuvi.
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KuL

ha

hi

ha

go

give

die.

2. For the same reason the Kuvi consonant h is

very often changed into s. Thus :
—

KuvL

go sa

give si

die sa

3. The Kuvi consonant h is sometimes changed

into
g.

Thus :
—

KuvL KuL

nehi good ^ neggi good

nehasi the good negganju the good

4. The Kuvi third person singular masc, which has

the affix esi asi, is changed in Kui into anju. Thus :
—

KuvL KuL

gattasi he who gattanju he who

punnasi he who knows punanju

watasi
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KuvL
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II.

^y ALPHABET.

The Kuvi language has no written characters of its

own, and as it has never been written before, the Roman

alphabet has been adopted in this Grammar in order to

make its study possible even without knowing the Telugu

or Ooriya language.

The Kuvi language consists of twenty-three conso-

nants and ten vowels, with three double vowels.

The consonants are divided into five classes.

1. Gutturals k kh g h n

2. Palatals Z Z S j

3. Cerebrals t d n r 1

(iO (^ C9 o o
4. Dentals t d

5. Labials p ph b bh W m

The vowel sounds in Kuvi are ten in number and

are thus represented by Roman letters.

a ail uu eeoo
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The double vowels are three,

ai au oi

These vowels may be still further exemplified by the

following English words spelt after the Kuvi fashion.

1.
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3. z (Telugu 22) iias a hard sound, as heard in

June.

4.
j (Tehigu (jSo) has a soft sound, as heard in

(yet, yes.)

5. n (Tekigu f^) has a nasal sound, as in French

word bon.

Remark 1—The doube consonant ngj which is very often

used in the plural number, must be spoken

through tlie nose as the French word.

Anglais.

Remark 2—The letter h is sometimes pronounced ab-

ruptly, wherefore an apostrophe shall

always be used in such cases.

meh'mu = say

tuh'mu == cut

uli'mu = kick

In the same way vowels are spoken often in a strange

abrupt way. To show this pronunciation an apostrophe

must also be used.

we'mu = beat

ho'mn = go out

ho'mu = run away

wa'mu = come

wa'du = come

I



It is very easj to learn or to remember where these

curious abrupt stoppages are to be used.

1. It is only used with verbs.

2. It is only used, when the root of the verb

ends in h and with any hard consonant

or in a vowel.

Kuvi verbs never change their roots. The root is

first distinctly pronounced and then the ending put to

it ; wherefore these sudden sharp stoppages appear very

reasonable.

Remark 3—When two vowels are standing together, each

vowel is to be pronounced separately and

distinctly, but no apostrophe need be used

then.

waadu = don't come.

waonxi = we are not coming.

3.

NOUNS.

The Kuvi language knows of no article, but ro one

is often used, where in English the indefinite article is

used. In the same way the demonstrative adjective

pronoun g that, those, and i this, these, are used.
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I.

FORMA.TION OF NOUNS.

A great number of nouns are formed from verbs,

adjectives or other nouns.

1. Formation from Verbs.

There are especially four classes formed by adding

different affixes. These affixes are pu, VU, ki, U-

(i. By adding pu.

Thus—

Root of Verb. Noun Singular, Plural,

Ij^'i
meh' to see mespu the sight mespunga
tin to eat tinpu the eating tinpunga

Un to drink unpu the drinking unpunga

gla to trans- glapu the trans- glapunga
gress gross

kadda glapu glatida
—have you crossed the river.

tinpu hotate—have you the mind to eat,

mespu meh'anaha perha oti—you have taken it

away without seeing.

tun to slay tunpu the slaugh- tunpunga
ter

pan to receive panpu the receipt panpunga
in to talk innumpu the talk etc.

tir to judge tirpu the judg-

ment
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mimbu bahe enataki likitulle manzeri—why are

you all (with weeping) weeping.

izzeka lagU lagitere
—

they blamed so much.

d. By adding u-

Root of Verb. Noun Singular,

zol talk

trig '^o tremble

nid to live

raz to write

fcatk to live

huz to weave

kaz to bite

Plural.

zolunga

trigunga

nidunga

razanga

batkunga

huzunga

kazunga

zolu talk

trigU trembling

nidu life

raZU writing

batku living

huzu weaving

kazu biting

haree nehi zola zolatesi—he spoke very well.

na himbori eni huzu huzzitesi!—of what weaving

did he make my cloth !

Formation from Verb participle by adding nasi>

tasi, nai, tai.

Verb part, nammi believe, noun fnammiliasi he who
masc.

J
believes.

i nammitasi the

L believer

C namminai
)
the

fern.
]

> believe

( nammitai J faith.
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2. Formation of Nouns from Adjectives.

A class of abstract nouns is formed

1. by affixing tanomi to an adjective.

Adjective. Noun.

nelii good nehitanomi goodness

kazza big kazzatanomi greatness

2. by affixing pana to an adjective.

Adjective, Noun.

nehi good nehipana goodness.

kazza big kazzapana greatness.

3. by affixing tai to an adjective.

Adjective. Noun.

una small unatai the small one.

nehi good nehitai the good thing.

There exists a difference between the last forma-

tion and the two first ones. Nehitanomi or nehipana

means goodness, kindness, but nehitai means a good

thing.

4. by affixing asi, al, ari, ai to an adjective.

Adjective. Noun.

nehi good nehasi a kind man

kazza big kazzasi a big man

izi little izasi a little man

izai a little woman.

The adjective una, small, cannot be used with the

affixes.
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3. Formation of nouns from Nouns.

1. by adding tanomi or pana-

hauta naidu hautatanomi the naiduship

or hautapana

odu rajah odutanomi Government

or odupana

muski a not giver muskitanomi avarice

(a niggard)

or muskipana

2. by changing the termination

lophomi avarice lophi the miser. ~

3. by adding the termination of gattasi, fena.

gattai, to a neuter noun.

Neuter Noun. Personal Noun.

papomi sin m. papomigattasi the sinner ^^

f. papomigattai »i

B blinzi a trade m. blinzigattasi a merchant. ^

^K f. blinzigattai

^^^^^4. by adding the ajffixes asi, esi> nasi^ nai to

^^^^^R a neuter noun.

^^^B Neuter Noun, Personal Noun.

^^Dlinzi
a trade blinziesi a merchant

OZU the beauty ozitasi the handsome
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5. by adding the affixes asi, esi, nasi, tasi,

naij etc., to a personal noun.

Personal Noun.

donga thief m. dongeesi the thief

f. dongeni

hauta naidu m. hauteesi the naidu

f. hauteni

A tromba the priest m. trombeesi the priest

f. trombeni

6. by affixing la or li and eni to a neuter

noun.

Neuter Noun. Personal Noun.

papu sin m. papula the sinner

f. papuli „

OZU beauty m. ozula the handsome

f. ozuli „

gudi blindness m. gudila the blind

f. gudeni

randi widowhood m. randela the widower

f. randeni

7. by affixing la to a personal noun.

donga thief m. dongela the thief

f. dongeni

N. B.—This formation is not generally to be used.

There exist some special words, which should be learned.
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8. by adding kahinasi (player).

blinzi trade —blinzikahinasi the merchant

beta hunting—betakahinasi the hunter

9. by adding the affix biga to a neuter or

personal noun

karuVU famine karuvibiga the gormandizer

donga the thief dongabiga a thief

nista drowsiness nistabiga a drowsy fellow

pazzi the pig pazzibiga a pig (personal)

The masculine and feminine forms are here the same

4. Formation of nouns from Adverbs, and

Postpositions, etc-

1. by affixing pana.

embaa there embatipana (the there

thing) the

circumstances

there.

uppara instead of, for upparapana the sake

pangata outside of pangatapana the outside

nokita before (in nokitapana the future

future)

»tollie

before (in tollitipana the past

past)

nie iiow nietipana the present

The composition with other adverbs or postposition

is not generally used, bub new words can easily be form-
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ed by the affix panaj as the language is open to accept

them. A large number of words may in this way be

introduced into the vocabulary of this language.

2. by affixing the personal terminations asi,

ati, esi, eni, ai, etc.

embaa there noun enibaasi he who is there

nie
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'2. The Feminine.

All nouns which can be used in reference to a

woman or a goddess are feminine.

3. The Neuter.

All nouns which can be used in reference to animals

(male or female) and to all inanimate things, are neuter.

DISTINCTIONS OF GENDER.

Distinctions of Gender are shown in three ways :

1. by the use of different words, as—

tanzi father talli, ija mother

ganza the cock koju the hen

dangda a young man laa a maiden

kokkasi a boy pota a girl

2. by changing of termination, as—

lage'etasi a bad one lage'etai a bad one (fem.)

blinziesi a merchant bliuzieni a merchant „

dokara husband dokiri the wife

budha the old man budhi the old woman.

3. by the use of prefixes, as—

Masculine. Feminine.

podi mleha a man aza mleha a woman

lukki kodi an ox talli kodi a cow
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Masculine. Feminine.

potu mranu a (m.) tree tallimranu a (f.) tree

bokada gorri a ram talli gorri a sheep (f.)

potu mila a little goat petta mila a little goat

doni orli the mouse talli orii the mouse

utija dalu a little pig talli dalu a little pig

kurra dalu a male calf osiri dalu a female calf

ganza hipa a cockerad pokala hipa a little hen.

2. NUMBER.

Kuvi nouns have two numbers—the Singular and

the Plural. Each number has five cases, namely
—

1. Nominative, 2. Genitive, 3. Dative,

4. Accusative, 5. Vocative.

1. Some nouns, expressing a collective sense, as

grains, are generally used in the plural number.

kulinga mannuki ? is there rice ?

zonanga nehi ahi kampitu, cholam is well ripened

2. Some nouns using the singular only are habi-

tually used with the verb in plural.

mandija mannu there is cholam

eju mannu there is water

palu mannu there is milk

loku manneri there are people

noro wahimanneri people are coming.
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The singular number may be used as well for

mandija.

The noun zana (people) is generally used with the

plural, but zaiiomi (people) uses the singular.

Money-nouns are used with the singular, if a nume-

ral is prefixed, otherwise the plural.

K doso takka nange hijamu give me ten rupees

put : evasi ninge takkan-ga
tatsa hijatesiki ? did he bring and give

you the rupees ?

3. When two nouns closely connected to each

other come together, the latter does not take, as it goes

in Telugu, the plural nnmber as a rule.

fiuraijorms:—
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lai madena morning and after-

noon.

'^VTj
^^*

»p ranta kuza rice and curry.

hakki eski hunger and thirst.

eju kudu bread and water.

Generally the affix e is added to the second word.

Thus—

hagu bhumiel
[>

heaven and earth.

tati dharmueJ

4. The conjunction of several words is formed by

adding the affixes wa, zakke, inzihi, inzaha.

These words may be put together without any affix.

Thus—

evari nange patka, mraka aka tatteri

they brought me fruits, trees and leaves

nanu ledkawa, kawangawa neskawa paitee
I shot eagles, crows and dogs,

tanzi zakke, talli zakke, tail zakke wateri

father, mother and brother came.

himbori inzihi arna inzihi ranta inzihi higai
inzatesi

he told me, that he will give me cloth, corn and food.

hauta inzaha tromba inzaha dihera inzaha

pezeni wateri

the nayudu, the priest, the astrologer and the

priestess came.
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There exists a difFerence between inzihi and

inzaha, which must be well remembered. Inzaha

always precedes the word which is conjunctive to the

preceding one, but inzihi follows the same.

3. CASES.

SINGULAR.

1 . The Genitive is formed by adding ti to the root

of the noun, or to the nominative.

Thus—

Nom. mranu tree Gen. mranuti u^n ^
mranuti kommo dikhee

I broke a branch of the tree.

Nom. naju village Gen. natuti

natuti manei the people of the village

Nom. illu house Gen. izzoti

^^^^ izzoti dara the door of the house

^^^^. The Dative is formed by adding ki or taki to

Tne noun.

izzotaki epmu
take it to the house

Sannuki hommu hittomi, or Sannutaki

we gave money to Saunu.

e
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The Dative is sometimes used in Kiivi, where in

English other cases are used.

nange azziteri they were afraid of me

gadetaki wai I come in a little while

3. The Objective case is formed in two wa}'s.

a. by adding ni or ti-

na kejuti norhee
I washed my hand

e mranuti or (mranui)
I cut down that tree.

The form ending in ti is more used than that ending

in ni.

b. by adding i which may change the preceding

consonant or vowel.

Thus—

kokasi a boy kokanai mestee I saw a boy

evasi he who evanai panditesi he sent him

Jesui zohorkii I worship Jesus

Eamunai or Eamuti hatitee I called Ramudu

illuti minzitee I took the house.

4. The Vocative case is formed in four ways.

a. by adding di iii the singular and deri in the

plural to the root of the noun.

kokasi the boy

kokadi boy !
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kokaderi O boys!

akke maskaderi wadu ballo ! daughters corae.

b. By adding tadi or taderi.

lage'etadi halla go, you bad one

nehitaderi wadu come, you good ones

In both cases lage'edi or nehideri may be used too.

c. By adding adi-

devudadi God !

mrienadi son !

This form has still anvother meaning, as : you are a

God, you are a son.

d. By lengthening the final vowel.

tone friend tone friend !

e. By adding ho-

tone friend toneho O friend !

mamaho O uncle !

Remark.—The termination formed by di or deri cannot

generally be used, as the real meaning of

di or deri is : you are.

Thus—

tonedi would mean you are a friend

mamadi you are an uncle.

kokadi is used regularly with the meaning

O boy!

but kokanadi means : you are a boy.
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/. By adding enadi, enaderi.

he tone enadi friend !

taiienadi O brother!

When the vocative of the plural number is to be

used, very generally the noun takes the plural termina-

tion besides the afl&x deri.

tanzingaderi fathers

talliskaderi mothers

tallitanziskaderi parents

potangaderi birds.

These formations are impossible if the noun is

ending with esi, asi-

Thus—

lage'esi the bad one lage'ederi bad ones

kokasi the boy kokaderi boys.

The feminine form of these nouns, if used in the

vocative plural, takes the plural termination of the noun

and the plural affix deri-

nehaska the good ones (fem.)

nehaskaderi good ones !

OZitaskaderi O beautiful ones !

If two nouns, closely connected with each other, are

put together, the last word only receives the Vocative

affix.
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Thus—

podi potaderi hazzu go ye boys and girls !

kokari potangaderi

hataadu ye boys and girls do not

talk.

na mrika mangaderi my sons and daughters.

(This phrase is used as : ray beloved
!)

PLURAL.

The nominative plural is formed by adding affixes

to the root or the theme.

The nominative plural ends in nga (nasal) ^M

9) Ka

a sKa

The gender suffixes are : ri (m.) and ai? ska (fem.

K or neut.)

aku the leaf akunga the leaves

himbori the cloth himborka the clothes

talli mother talliska mothers

evasi he evari they

nehitai (she is) a good nehitai (they are) good

one ones.

or nehitaska „ „

The Genitive is the same as the nominative.
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The Dative adds the affix ki or aki as in the

singular.

The Objective adds the affix ni or i.

Kuvi nouns are divided into two classes, namely
—

regular and irregular.

The regular nouns are divided into two decleusions.

4. FIRST DEOLEiYSION.

This declension includes all nouns, of which the

nominative singular ends in si and the genitive in ni.

The nominative plural ends with ri, ka or ska.

Sing, Pluvm

The Genitive is formed by changing si into ni ri

The Dative „ „ „ „ naki raki

The Objective „ „ » „ nai rai

1. Example.

Singular, Plural.

N. kokasi the boy kokari the boys

Gr. kokani of the boy kokari of the boys

D. kokanaki to the boy kokaraki to the boys

0. kokanai the boy kokarai the boys.

2. Example.

N. mriesi the son mrika the sons

G. mrieni of mrika of
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I>. mrienaki to mrikaki to

0. mrienai the mrikai ")
^^^

or mrikati ^

3. Example.

N. tonesi the friend toneska the friends

<j toneni of- toneska of

1^1^.
tonenaki

^
toneskaki

tone'ekij tonengk

O. tonei the toneskai
j

toneskani
)

toneskati
j

tonenganiJ

f ]

"^

the friends.

5. SECOND DECLENSION.

This declension includes all nouns, of which the

nominative does not end in si-

The Genitive singular affiices ti to the Nominative or

is the same as the Nominative.

The Dative affixes taki> and the Objective ti or ni-

!

1. Example,

Singular, Plural,

N. neroini the fault neromikai the faults

Cr. neromi (ti) of neromikai of

D. neromitaki to neromikaki t(j

O. neromi (ti) the nero.mikani the
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2. Example.

Singular.

N. nomeri tlie fever

Gr. nomeri (ti) of

D. nomeritaki to

O. nomeriti (ni) the

Plural,

nomerika the fevers

nomerika of

nomerikaki to

nomerikani the

RULES FOR THE FORMATION OF THE
PLURAL.

Nouns ending in lu, H, ru, ri, su, si, mu, nu, ni,

dUs di form their phiral by omitting the final vowel of

the singular and affixing ka to the root.

Examples.

Singular.

illu

pallu

kaUu

walli

mungeli

horu

nomeri

wansu

tonesi

kommu
kannu

minu

penu

the house

the tooth

the stone

the stone

the nose

ilka

palka

kalka

walka

mungelka

PluraL

the houses

the teeth

the mountain horka

the fever

the finger

the friend

the horn

the eye

the fish

the devil

nomerka

waska

toneska

komka

kanka

minka

penka
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odka X(y^

Singular, Plural.

odu the king

godu the shepherd

Nouns ending in ta, ja, da, ga, ra, ti, zu, da, zi

and ju form their plural by adding nga or nka-

(SC

^T^f

Singular.

pata the table

kaja the fruit

kadda river

badga stick

dara door

kutti nail

piza gras

gonda koka

manzi cholam

ziju way

piju rain

krija lionig

Plural

patanga

kajanga

kaddanga

badganga

daranga

kuttinga

pizunga M
gondanga

manzinga

zlunga or zinga

pijunga or piska

krijanga

pvjo
i<*

(TA

o

Plural formations, which must be specially learnedj

as they are irregular.

Singular.

keju hand

traju

kriju

Plural.

rain

head

ear

keska

piska

traka

krika

^^
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Singular, Plural,

bliju
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The word trajU (head) has different forms for the

genitive.

Thus—

trau bananga
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RULES IN REFERENCE TO PLACES.

To express motion to, very often the object towards

•yhich motion is made is put in the Objective.

ivasi nato hazzesi he went to town

ivari odu tana hazzeri they went to the king

idi zadata hotte she ran into the forest.

The Dative case may be used in the same way.

To express motion from, the postposition ti is used,

but, if the object cauDot be changed, the compound post-

position tanatij bakkiti is mostly used, although ti may

be permitted.

bariti waterika girls, did you come from

school ?

ae, pantul tanati watomi no, we come from the

master

evaniti imbia hazzeri ? where did you go from

him ?

A special exception makes the word iUu*

Thus—

na illu mulie vikka mannu

upon my house is grass

or na illuti muhe vikka mannu
or nazzoti muhe ninge ena dukhomi

why are you sorry about my house (family)?
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When the house is far av\^ay, e illu muhe, upon

that house there is used.

ti

A few of the principal postpositions are as follows :
—

out of

tulle with

I hillaanaha without

ta

na

kilia

loni

m

e tajuti watesi
he came from (out of) that place

evasi natulle zolatesi

he spoke with me

liomniu hillaanaha hazzesi

he went without money

e pedata himborka mannu
in the box are clothes

lekko
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nokita in front of

daju

zezo

attala

lehe

pateka ),

peteka )

lekka

kuttu

daka

kosomi

behind

behind

behind the

other side

like accord-

ing to

as long as

for

as long as

for

as long as

for

as much as

for

for sake of

e badi nokita punga mannu
in front of the school are

flowers.

na daju watesi
he came behind me

na zezo watesi
he came after me

na illu attala

behind my house

sombara attala manglara
wane

after Monday comes Tuesday.

ni helloti lehe kepitee
I did according to your order

i mranuti lehe baheti tustee

like (in the same way as) these

trees I cut them all

nanu westati lehe wen-
nada

hear as I have told you, man !

ro lenzu pateka mannada
stay for a month

ro lenzu lekka kepitomi
we did it a month long

wara kuttu nomeri mazze
there was fever a week long

ro takka daka kepa'da
work as much as for one rupee

vidia kosomi watee
I come for wisdom's sake
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taki
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darri
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zejoe 3"st after or zezoe watesi

The postposition po (on side) is only used in con-

nection with the personal pronoun.

Thus—
napo on my side

mapo on our side

nipo on your side

mipo on your side

but evaiii bakki on his side, etc.

Mostly all these postpositions may be used as adjec-

tives by affixing ti (Genitive form).

Thus— .

dajuti totto the side behind

SUti;Uti ziju a round way

attalti illu the other side house

pangati anderi the external darkness

1. The postpositions attala, ittala, lekko, muhe,

loki, nokita, etc., Avhich are used as locative destinations,

add taki or ki^ if they are answering the question

whereto.

Thus—
nanu kadda attaltaki hazzee

I wen^ to the other side of the river

e horu lekkotaki engadu
climb upon the hill

na nokitaki wadu
come before me

a
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Kemark.—In conversation the Dative case is very often

omitted.

2. The two postpositions paged! and maddi (be-

tween, in the midst) are usually compounded with the

other postposition ti (from)

i zada madditi hallamu

go iu the middle of the forest

ri panza pagediti hallamu

go between the two houses

Remaek.—The postposition pagediti is only used in

connection with inanimate things. It is

impossible to say

i riari kokari pagediti takamu

go between these two boys

3. The postposition lehe (according to) is com-

monly used with the Objective case.

idi wedati lehe linzine

this shines like the sun

4. The postposition kuttu and daka are used only

for temporal, never for local determination.

ro warakuttu nomeri kajate
I had fever one week long

5. The postposition eduru (before, in front of)

uses the Dative case.

nange eduru watesi
he came in front of me (towards me)
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6. The postpositions ittala ^^^d attala are mostly

connected with totto or padia (this side or the other

side).

Thus—

i horu ittala totto piju ritte atihe attala

padia karra mazze

on this side of the hill there was rain, but on

the other side there was sunshine.

7. The postposition ta (in) is commonly used in

connection with the singular Number, but ^La (in) is

commonly used in connection with the plural number.

.
i totata punga ma?zu :^^

i>

there were flowers in this garden c^

but : i totangana punga mazzu
there were flowers in these gardens

8. The postposition hommuduveri (opposite) is

commonly used in connection with houses or places only.

na illu hommuduveri lellimranu manne

opposite to my house there is a tamarind tree

Remark 1.—The postposition ta (in) is not used is con-

nection with illu-

Thus—

izzo loku manneri

there are people in the house

Remark 2.—The word hate (hand) is very commonly

used in the sense of walla (by)
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nahate atihe nanu gelhii, tanihate atihe i

tanu gelhinesi (73^550 ^OX^Q)
CO

if by me (if I am strong enough) I shall win, if

by him (if he is strong enough) he will win.

SOME SPECIAL EXAMPLES.

ro takkataki wahu atee

I suffered (worked hard) for one rupee (to get

one rupee)

manzingana zandii anda manne
there is weed between the rice

enaataki what for, why

imbitaki how far

imbataki till here

embataki till there

i kodingana kadika mannu
between these oxen there are black ones

zadata mraka mannu
there are trees in the forest

angata kassa manne
there is blood in the body

na kankana pisa manne
there is pain in my eyes

na mungelita murmu manne
there is a ring in my nose

na mungeliti murmu hazze

my nose-ring is gone
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5,

ADJECTIVES.

Kuvi adjectives are indeclinable, i. e., they do not

vary in gender, number or case.

Thus—

nehi walli a nice stone

fk nehi kokarituUe kahitee

B I played with good boys

W Kuvi adjectives have no special comparative and

superlative forms. The force of them is either expressed

by such adverbs, as : haree, hara, aggada ?onoe (very,

much, etc.,) or by the use of the ordinary forms preced-

ed by certain postpositions.

Thus the comparative is expressed by using the

I affix kiha.

Thus—

nakiha evasi kazzasi

he is bigger than I

evanikiha nanu ijtee

I am smaller than he

1. The superlative may be expressed by using the

affix tanataki, lonitaki or loni

Thus—

evaritanataki ivasi nehasi

he is the best of them
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2. The superlative may be expressed by using tbe

word bahetikiha or wazzetikiha (in comparison witb

all.)

wazzetikiha ivasi nehasi
be is tbe best of all

3. Tbe force of tbe superlative degree is sometimes

expressed by repeating tbe adjective.

puju ozi ozitai

tbe flower is very beautiful

muglunga kazza kazzari

tbe masters are very great

FORMATION OF ADJECTIVES.

In Kuvi as well as in Telugu, English or other

languages, many words may be changed into an adjective.

1. Nouns can be changed into adjectives, taking

the genitive or even the nominative case.

Thus—

mranuti kommo or mranu kommo
the branch of a tree

ba'ali bhumi
a sandy soil

kaddati ba'ali or kadda ba'ali

river sand
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Remark—It must be remarked, that iu some sentences

the genitive cannot be used, when it gives a

different meaning.

Thus-

k
ba'ali bhumi means : sandy soil

ba'aliti bhumi means : the earth out of the

sand ; which is meaningless

2. Nouns can be changed into adjectives by affixing

ati.

Thus—

riomeriati mleha the sick man

I

wahuati kamma troublesome work

P 3. Nouns can be changed into adjectives by affix-

: ing gatti (ra.) gattai (fem.) or manni (being) hillaa

(not being).

Thus—

gnianomi gatti ija
^ wise woman

blaju gatti kla'aui the strong tiger

^^^ pisa manni wansu the painful finge*

V^^m Zivu hillaa sahukari the unkind merchant

^^^^•. Nouns can be changed into adjectives by affix-

ing kahiti (playing).

blinzi kabitti mleha the merchant



60

5. Nouns determining any measurement can be

changed into adjectives by affixing eka*

Thus—

<^H ^^

hera
a handful
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kadi eju
kadini eju

O-y
I the dark water

nehitoneW. | the good friend
neniti tone esi )

^

This formation is used in connection with person

only if a special force shall be expressed ; as—he is really

a good friend.

Adjectives may take the affix ati-

Thus—

Masculine.

nehi tone'esi )
^ ^^^

nehasati tone'esi )
^ friend

neharati tone'enga



62

Neuter.

nehiati mraka good trees

nehaiati mraka »>

When an adjective is used in tlie predicate, it takes

the pronominal afl&xes ; asi, esi, ai, ai> etc,

i odu nehasi this king is good

i kodi nehai this ox is good

i kokari nehari these boys are good

1 yaska nehai 1
^^iq^^. women are good

1 ijaska nenaska )
^

It must be clearly understood that there exists a

slight difference in the feminine or neuter singular and

plural.

The singular form ai is pronounced as proper diph-

thong in one syllable.

But in tlie plural form ai each vowel is pronounced

separately.

e punga gadilinga these flowers are red

e orka nehari those kings are good men

The positive verbal relative participle affixing manni

to the verbal participle present or past is commonly used

as an adjective.

e hahi manni kokanaki sajomi kepamu

help the dying boy

e haha manni kodi

the dead ox
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The negative verbal relative participle affixing a to

the verbal root is regularly used as an adjective.

Thus—

nanu opaa hada zolaani
(a.^^ §^?5^^)

do not speak a word to which I do not consent

nanu opuhoa hada zolaani (sb^y §^7T^c^)

do not speak a word, which is not to be con-

tsented

to

The word ati (Telugu S^COOc^) as an affix to a

xiOun may be used, but in a very different sense from

that in Telugu. The affix ati is only used if the ani-

mate person or thing is not still alive.

ma akku ati Sappura

my grandfather Sappura (he who lived before)

ma hauta dokiri ati But;i

Butchi, the wife of our nayudu, (she was once)

When the person or thing is still alive, the nomi-

native or genitive case is used without affix.

na tone'eni dokeri Sita wate

Sita, the wife of my friend, came

na talli mriesi

the SOB of my mother

Eemark.—If a husband, wife or children, (except

Ih

unweaned babies) die, their names never will

HBf be mentioned again. Whenever they have
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to talk about those deceased ones, they use

the word peue'esi ill the genitive case instead

of the name.

dambiti pene'eni dokiri

the wife of the deceased

When the name of the deceased has to be given,

pene*esi (masc.) or pene'eni (fem.) is always affixed to

the name.

Question : na dambiti pene'eni doru eni doru ?

Answer : na dambitani doru Somba pene'esi

If anybody is killed by a tiger or bear or any wild

beast, the name of that person will never be mentioned

again. He is referred to as :

umbiti zode'esi the upward taken zode'esi

The word zodeesi means a ghost.

If his name is asked for, people will reply.

kahi, doho, na zodeeni doru aha'ai

do not (ask) it is sin, do not ask the name of my
zodeesi.

Remark.—If the word eju (water) is connected with an

adjective, the latter takes sometimes the

plural case.

pulangjeju sour water
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6.

PRONOUNS.

Kuvi pronouns are subdivided as in any other lan-

u'uage, as follows ;
—

1. Personal and demonstrative pronouns. 2. Re-

flexive pronouns. 3. Emphatic pronouns. 4. Interro-

gative pronouns. 5. Indefinite pronouns. 6. Demon-

strative adjective and interrogative adjective pronouns,

7. Possessive adjective pronouns. 8. Pronouns referring

lifi number. 9. Distributive pronouns.

1^ Kuvi pronouns are declined upon the same general

principles as nouns and may like them affix postpositions.

1. PERSONAL AND DEMONSTRATIVE
PRONOUNS.

Nanu—1> the pronoun of the first person, has two

forms in the plural, namely: mambu (we), which ex-

cludes, and marc (we), which includes, the person

addressed.

mambu gurkatomi we are gurus

maro papugattatohi we are sinners.

L
Hence in prayer, mambu only can be used.

nanu is declined as follows :—

I Singular, Plural, 2nd Plural.

N. nanu I mambu maro

Q. na of me, my ma ma
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Singular. Plural, 2nd Plural.

^' nange to, for me mange mange

nangetaki mangetaki mangetaki
O, nanaa me mamaa mamaa

mamai mamai

ninu is declined as follows :
—

you
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foi' both masculine and feminine. The plural of idi and

edi formed ivi, evi and ivaska, evaska, is used for

either for feminine or neuter.

Hemahk.—The feminine in the plural number may use

the verb in either the feminine or the

masculine.

1^

ivasi and evasi are declined as follows :
—

Singular. Plural.

ivasi he, this man ivari these men or

women

G. ivani (ti) of him

D. ivanaki to him

O. ivanai
ivaniti Jhim

Singular.

ivari of them

ivaraki to them

iv^^?/. ]themivariti J

Plural.

N. evasi

G. evani (ti) of him

D. evanaki to him

he, that man evari they,

men

women

evari of them

evaraki to them

those

evanai
evanati

evarai
}IK evanati ) evarati

IH^L Singular. Plural.

N. idi she, it ivi or ivaska

G. idani (ti) of her, it ivi ivaska

them

they

of them
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Singular,

D. idanaki to her, it ivaki

O. idani ^ ivaaidaui
)
> her, it

idaniti )

Plural,

ivaskaki to them

ivaskai )

ivaskati > them

ivaskani)

Singular.

edi she, it, that evi

edani of her, it gva

N
G.

D. edanaki to her, it

O. edanai her, it

Plural,

or evaska

evaska

evanaki evaskaki

evaa

they

evaskai )

evaskati > them

evaskani )

The first personal pronoun has a very pecuUar use,

for it can be conjugated as a verb, as follows :
—

nanu it is Iivatee

ivate'enie

ivati

ivasi

ivatomi

ivatohi

ivaderi

ivari

These forms are usd for both masculine and femi-

nine genders. The plural of ivaska ^s conjugatable

likewise.

evaskatomi it is we

evaskaderi it is you

nmu
evasi

mambu
marc

mimbu

evari

it is you

it is he

it is we

it is we

it is you

it is they
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When the person or thing of whom or which is

spoken, is far away, the pronoun ivasi or evasi is

changed into hevasi and huvasi. The pronoun edi is

changed into hedi and hudi. These demonstrative

pronouns are declined as above mentioned.

The words ivasi, Svasi, idi, edi, are equally used

for a person of very low or of very high rank.

There exists no special expression to show any

respectability as : gam or Mr., as in Telugu or

English.

2. THE REFLEXIVE PRONOUN.

The reflexive pronoun tanu (self) is thus declined :
—

Singular, Plural,

N. tanu tambu

Cr. tani tami

D. tange tamge

itanaa

(tamaa
tanai \tamai
tanati (tamati

The plural tambu is used as in Telugu instead of

mimbu or mimbungO, as a term of great respect.

tami helloti lehe according to your order

10
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3. EMPHATIC PRONOUNS.

The force of the emphatic expressions : I myself,

you yourself, etc., is expressed in Kuvi by guttee or e-

mimbu guttee e kamma kepadu

you must do that work yourself

nanue mestee

I saw it myself

mimbue zaltiko

be careful yourselves

There is some difference in both expressions.

The affix e expresses only a force of the emphatic

pronoun, but guttee has the meaning of own only.

mimbu guttee zaltiko would mean :

you only shall be careful

Such English expressions as ; of himself, etc., im-

plying a spontaneous action, are expressed in Kuvi by

prefixing loni to the emphatic form of the pronoun and

by repeating the same.

taniloni tanue watesi

he came of himself

or tanu tanue hatitesi

he called of himself

e kodi taniloni tanue wate

the ox came of himself
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Such expressions as : As for myself, is expressed

iu Kuvi by adding atihe or iifzihe-

nanu i;;ihe (atihe) zoliteema ninu if^ihe

hottiema

as for myself I would talk, but you would run

away

ninu kallamu nanu atihe (i;;ihe) mai

you may go away, but as for myself I stay

4. INTERROGATIVE PRONOUNS.

The interrogative pronouns imbaasi who ? which

man ? imbai or imbinai or enai, which woman or

thing P are thus declined :

Singular. Plural.

N.
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Singular. Plural.

J)
C imbinaki D. imbaaraki

'

I imbinanaki

O. imbinani O. imbaarai

For imbai very commonly is used the word

imbinigattai*

Singular. Plural,

N. imbinigattai which imbinigattaska and

imbinaska

G. imbinigattani imbinigattaska „

D. imbinigattanaki imbinigattaskaki »

O. imbinigattani imbinigattaskani ,,

Singular, Plural,

N. ena which thing ? enai or imbinai

enai

eni

G' imbinani ivaska imbinai

D. enaataki

imbinaki not used imbinaki

O. enaa

imbinani notus©d imbinaa

In reference to a female of lower rank, the singular

as : imbai wate? (which came)? but for one of higher

rank, imbai watu ? (which came ?) is used.
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The Genitive and Objective of ena i^iay be used

equally as : enaa kepiti
—what have you done ?

or eni kepiti n •» »> »

ninge imbinani kavale —what do

you want

but : ningp eni pustakomi kavale—what book

do you want ?

5. INDEFINITE PRONOUNS.

Indefinite pronouns are formed by adding atiwai

wa, moddi, moddiwa, ?akke to the various interro-

gative pronouns.

When the verb is in the negative, these additions

may be omitted.

iraka^a imbinani atiwa tu'umu
cut down any one of these trees

or imbini mranu atiwa tu'umn

you may cut down any tree

nomeriti enariwa hateriki ?

did any one die of fever ?

PI
embaa imbaari hilluuri

^ there is nobody

These forms with atiwa^ wa, etc., may be used as

Indefinite Pronoun adjectives.

Thus—

imbinani atiwa ro puju tammu
bring any flower, (any one of the flowers)
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The Indefinite Pronoun is also formed by adding a<

imbaasia otesi

some one, (any one) has taken it away

Some special words are used as an Indefinite

Pronoun.

ThuB-
As Noun.

phalanigattai a certain woman

etke'etasi a different man

etkeotai a different woman

As Adjective,

phalaniti ija a certain woman

etkeeti ponda a different cow.

Sentences with these adjective forms are not com-

monly used. More common is it to use the genitive

of the noun.

phalanigattani kokari

the boy of a certain man

phalanigattani kokasi
the boy of a certain woman

6. DEMONSTRATIVE ADJECTIVES AND
INTERROGATIVE ADJECTIVES.

There are four demonstrative adjective pronouns,

namely : i(this or these;,, e (that or those), hS (that or
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those), if the distance is somewhat greater, hu (that or

those) if the distance is still greater. All are indeclin-

able.

i mranu nehi ahi tonza ahi manne
this tree appears well

S mranu nehi ahi tonza ae

that tree appears indistinct

he mranu izzaahi (minomana) tonzaane
that tree appears very indistinct

hu mranu nange rutee tonza ae

that tree is not visible at all

I

6 pottanga ae» hu pottangani zimu

shoot not that bird which is near but that one

far off

I Imbini, which is indeclinable, is used as an interro-

gative adjective pronoun.

imbini mlehai mesti ?

which man did you see ?

imbini izzo reteri ?

in which house did you enter ?

POSSESSIVE ADJECTIVE PRONOUNS.

P As in Telugu, there are no distinct possessive

adjective pronouns, but their place is supplied by the

genitive cases of the precedmg pronoun.
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Thus—

na

ni

ma
mi

ivani
evani

idani
edani

na keju

idani traju

riari

rindi

riari kokari

rindi potanga both girls

rindi kodinga both oxen

of me—my
of you

—
your

of us—our

of you—your

J
of him—his

}of

her—her

it its

my hand

her head

both (masc.)

both (fern, and neuter)

both boys

8. PRONOUNS REFERRING TO NUMBER.

The following pronouns, which refer to number,

have no plural.

how many (masc. and fem.)e^^ora zana

ez^ora,

e^ona

i^^ora zana

iz^ora
ij^ona

e^^eka

>how many (neuter)

so many (masc. and fem.)

[
so mauy (neuter)

how much
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i^zeka
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The word i^eka may be changed in a very interest-

ing way. Thus :
—

i^eka a little

i^^eka a very little

i^zani a very little

i^^i^ani a very very little

When these words (in masc. or feminine gender) are

to be declined, they decline only the word z§na*

ez?ora zana how many

ezjora zanati of how many

ejzora zanataki to ,,

ez?ora zanati how many

The neuter form may be declined as a common

noun, but generally the noun is not omitted. In such

cases the pronoun is not declined, only the noun.

Neuter.

e^Ona liow many

espjoniti
of how many

ezzonitaki to how many

ejfOHa how many

9. DISTRIBUTIVE PRONOUNS.

On the translation of each^ every.

The word roro, the reduplication of ro, (one) is

equivalent to the word each, when used as an adjective,

and the word rorOOSi* rondirondi are equivalent to :

each^man, each woman or thing.
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Besides this, the words walati (each, every) and

^alatasi or walatai, each man, woman or thing, are

roroonaki himu

give to every one

roro takkati nehikihi he*einu

look for every rupee

nanu rondirondani nehikihi mestee

I looked carefully for every one

walatasi kamma kepaliwalle

every one shall do work

walati nekeri nomeri wane

every night comes fever

walateri hateri

all died

There exists a very fine difference between

walateri and walatari.

Thus—

walateri hateri

all people (here) died

but walatari haneri

all people (whereever they may be) die

Reduplication is used to denote exchange. The

first noun is therefore put in the Dative.

takkataki takka h^jai
I will give rupee for rupee, for each rupee 1

will pay a rupee
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kanditaki kandeka hijai

I will pay for each puddi according to a puddi

When re-duplication takes place and the noun takes

the plural number, it denotes continuity of action.

bonda bondanga rinu

drop by drop fell

krama kramomininga

by degrees

Bach followed—by his own, her own, etc,

is expressed by
—imbaari evarie (masc.)

imbaaska evaskae (fem.)

neuter)

or : by zaharpati zaharie (masc.)

zaharwani zaharie (fem.)

zahartani zaharie (neuter)

zahaskawani zahaskee »

zahara kamma zaharee kepadu
which work, that work do (each do his own

work)

zaharpati zaharee patka perha oteri

each one took away the fruits, he got

zaharpatani zaharee odu

each one take what he can get

zahara dekitani zaharee dekadu

what every one has to bear, every one may

bear
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zahara tizzani zaharee tinzn

each one shall eat, what he has to eat

imbaari illu evarie hepadu
each one sweep his own house

imbaarani gonda evaterie huzzadu

each one (female) take her own cloth

i mokkongani imbini glajutani e glajutee

uhadu

put each tree in its own hole

imbini ne^utani e ne^utee hijai

I will pay at every day (daily)

imbinaskawani evaskakie himu

give to each woman, what belongs to her

Very commonly is used :

dinomitani dinomie hijai

I will pay daily

Translation of—several, various, respective, etc.

The words—several, etc., are rendered in Kuvi by

reduplication of pronoun.

•
imbini imbini tajuta re?eri ?

in what different places did you wander ?

evaevari kokari hotteri

their respective boys ran away

e e horka mestee

I saw the different hills
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ON TRANSLATION OF ANOTHER.

The word—one—followed by—another—is express-

ed in Kuvi by using ro, rOOSi^ rondi, followed by the

same word and noun again.

idi ro kuda edi ro kuda
this is one caste, this is another

roonai hatitihe roosi wanesi
if I call for one man, another comes

ronda rejijihe rondi nejine
if you pull out one, another springs up

i kadda roheti ze h5'one^ roheti ze likine

the river runs at one time, at another it is dry

The word another, in the SQUse of an additional one,

is expressed by the word :
—

odero, oderoosi oderondi

i ziju aanaha odero z\ju manne

besides this way there is still another one

ro doka halee oderondaa h^jamu
one pot is not sufficient, give another one

7.

COMPOSITE NOUNS.

By affixing asi, esi, si, tasi, ari, eri, or their

feminine or neuter form to adjectives or adverbs, etc.,

and the genitive of nouns, a class of words is formed,

which we shall call—Composite Nouns.
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Thus, for instance ; when asi is attached as an affix

to the adjective iji, (little) the composite noun—izasi, is

formed, which is masculine and means a boy. When ari

is affixed to izi, the composite noun ijari is formed, which

means—boj s.

Example.

ijasi the little one, the boy

Iijai

the little one, the girl (or neuter)

i^ari the little ones, the boys

i^ai the little ones, the girls (or neuter)

Examples of such Formations.

With Adjectives.

kazzasi a big one

kazzai a big one (fern, neut.)

ozitasi a beautiful one

nehasi a good one

kadinasi the black one

longinesi the red one.

Opnesi the white one.

With Verbs,

wehenasi the speaker.

wennasi the hearer or beggar.

painasi the beater.

pohikinasi the nourisher.

wanasi the comer.
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With Verbs,

hinasi the giver.

hunzinasi the sleeper.

hillaatasi the not existing one.

ziwu hillaatasi the liveless one.

With Pronouns,

naasi

niasi

miasi

but evanigattasi

iletasi

walatasi

my man, the mine

thy man, the thine

your man

is more common than

evanasi

With Adverbs.

a such one

a man, who has no caste, a

man who has travelled all

over the land

the wherefrom man

the man here

the man there

the man of yesterday

the man of to-day

With Postpositions.

pangatasi the man of the outside

ittaltasi the man on this side

lekkotasi the one above

15kitasi the one below

imbitasi

imbatasi

embatasi

reenitasi

ninzutasi
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With Nouns.

nomerasi the sick one

telungeesi the Telugu man

kristuusi the Christian

guruesi the teacher

Ikapulaasi

the cultivator, the Sudra

goteesi the relative

gOteesi the servant

Words, which come from Sanscrit, ending in omi,

may use the aflGix aasi, but more common is the aflBx

gattasi, gattai.

Ik neromi, neromaasi, neromigattasi, the sinner

IP papomi, papomaasi, papomigattasi, the sinner

r All these composite nouns, which make this lan-

guage very flexible and beautiful, are declinable according

to the first declension.

8.

ADVERB.

Many Kuvi adverbs are formed by affixing

1. ninga to adjectives or nouns.

nomerininga takitee

I walked feverish (with fever on me)

nehininga well
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2. by affixing ahi, aha,

nehiahi ha^spomi
we went away bappy

wahuahi tattomi

we brought it with trouble

3. By affixing kihi (doing).

na kamma nehikihi kepitee

I did my work well

Many of these adverbs and adverbial postpositions

admit of being partially declined.

Example.

embaa there

embati from there

embataki to there

In the same way are declined imbaa (here), imbia

(where), etc.

nie now

nieti from now

nietehe afterwards

nietaki till now

The word nangati, then (?3o5\^(5^) is not to be

declined.

The w^ords rooni (day before yesterday)

reeni (yesterday)

ninzu (to-day)
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9

CONJUNCTIONS,

CO-ORDINATE CONJUNCTIONS.

e e and ninue evasie

you and he

na na and nanuna ninnna

I and you

— e and Raimida Basue

Raraudu and Basu.

— kuda and i kokari e kokari kuda

these boys and those boys

ndehe—zakke as well as

ninue evasie roletateri

you and he are of the same size

ninnna nanuna role ahi manomi

you and I are of the same size

Ramuda Basue wateri

Ramudu and Basu came

nanu udehe ae evasi zakke kepitomi

(not I only, he too) I as well as he have done it

i mranu udehe ae e mranu zakke tu'udu

cut down this tree as well as the other
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ape. ape either. ..or

tana ape nanu ape waatomi
neither he nor I came

The conjunction for either—or is sometimes omit-

ted.

tanu hihi hilluusi, nanu hihi hilloo

either he gave nor I

In negative sentences e 6 is used to translate

neither... nor.

Bamudae Basne wanri

neither Ramudu nor Basu are coming

The conjunction neither... nor... can be translated by
the verb hill (not be).

kommanga hillau aka hillan gali weti

zakke torgaatu.

Neither branches nor leaves fell down although the

wind blew.

The conjunction neither ... nor... can be translated by

atiwa or wa if the verb follows in the negative, but has

the meaning of both—and as well as—if the verb fol-

lows in the positive.

penni atiwa kaka atiwa hillaate

it was neither cold nor warm

sukkomiwa kashtomiwa opamn

you must bear both happiness and sorrow



90

B

SUBORDINATE CONJUNCTIONS.

sahima— but nanuwaha hilloo sammatann

watesi

- I did not come, but he came

gani— but osso uttesi gani nehi aatesi

he took medicine, but did not get well

elezakke— but nehi osso hittee elezakke nida-

atesi

I gave good medicine, but he did not

live

elewa— but/iUu hallee rakaatee eletiwa
eletiwa— but j nidaatesi

J
, ,

I gave my whole house away, but he

did not live

atiKe— but tini zana wateri atihe roosi

lojitesi

three came, but one remained back

aatihe— or i mrann aatihe e mranu tunii

shall I cut down this tree or that one

leka or ivasiki leka evasi ?

to this one or th^t one
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O

CONDITIONAL,

He so

enaataki maha for

80

enaataki i^ihe for

rP lakka

He i^^esi

he spoke so

ilenzihi wessa ha^esi*

so talking he went away

ilekihi kidu

80 do

puuni illu dostee enaa-

taki maha plaai riha

ha^^e

I built a Dew house, for

the old oue fell down

nann horn engitee

enaataki i^^ihe hi^idi

manneinzihi

I climbed the hill, for it is

cold (therefore)

therefore hommu hittee lakka

tizzesi

I gave money, therefore he

ate
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daju

I

I

zezo

retutie

dakkitie

modaltie

nezutie

edie

after- ninu hittidajxi nanu

wards rahaai

after after you have given I shall

be glad

after hittizezo hannomi

after joii have given, we

shall go

since naiiu wati retutie piju

ritte

it rained since I came

since i illu dosti dakkitie

nehi hilloomi

since we have built this

house we are not well

since mambu wati modaltie

godi

since we came, there was

quarrelling

since weda hoti nezutie

karra ate

since the sun rose (morn-

ing) it got sunshine

just when nanu hazzee edie Ra-

muda watesi

just when I went Ramudu

came

13
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ma^^ati during nanu zolkiahi maz^ati

when wezzeri

tliey listened during my

speech

hee while evari deka manzeliee

katta kerheri

they sang while they car-

ried

nanu manzehee tizzeri

they ate while I was there

ezzeka till nanumannie^zekanehi
so long ahi mazzeri

as they were all right as long

as I was there

Remark.—The temporal conjunction hee is really no

conjunction, but the verbal participle only,

which is got by affixing e> which means when,

during.

E
CAUSAL CONJUNCTIONS,

aki because ninu doho kittaki paijatee

I beat you, because you did wrong

lakka because ninu kamma kepiti lakka

kampite
it bore fruit because you worked
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F

MODEL CONJUNCTIONS.

lehe as, likewise evasi westatilehe aha ha?ze

it happened as he had told

ninu wahu atilehe nanuwa
wahu atee

I troubled like you

tappa except idani tappa imbinai nehai

hillee

except this there is nothing good

The conjunction, except, can be translated by pissihi

ezzetie or aanaha ezzetie.

Thus—

idani pissihi ezzetie bahe nehai

except this one all are good
^
i rondi aanaha ezzetie barre nehai

except this one, everything is good

The conjunction, besides, must be translated by

aanaha with a following coordinate conjunction.

Thus-

i rondi aanaha idani zakke hittee

besides this one I gave you this too
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CONDITIONAL CONJUNCTIONS.

inzihi that hazzalinzihi ninge kuli

hijatee

I gave you cooly hire that

you should go

lehe that ninu wanilehe hatatee

I called yon, that you should

come

aki that mimbu hunzinaki (hunzi-

nanaki) nanu tambitee

I was silent that you might

sleep
zakke although nanu osso hittee zakke

hatesi

although I gave medicine he

died

appudaki zakke although na«iu weheni appudaki

zakke wennaatesi

although I told it, he did not

hear

uppara although ni hommu hitti uppara

nanaa wetati

although I gave you your

money, you beat me

he if ninu tammu izzihe ta'ini

if you tell me to bring, I

shall bring
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On enai ^s a Conjunction.

The force of the English words as well as, or, either...

ui*—is also sometimes expressed in Kuvi by the word

enai (which).

Thus—

kokari enai potanga enai, kazzari enai

Iizari

enai bahetomi waha mazzomi-

we all came, boys and girls, big ones as well as

small ones.

nehasi enai polaatasi enai imbaaniwa

bitri hootali hiatesi.

neither good nor bad ones, be let nobody come

in.

The word atiwa> wa when affixed to a single word,

has the force of the English word even.

Thus :—

ro hada atiwa wennaateri

they did not hear even one word

X.

INTERJECTIONS.

Sometimes nouns are used as interjections.

Thus :—

hpapu

dharmu=a]a3 !

papu dharmu riha hazzesi I

alas ! he fell down !
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General Interjections consist of mere exclamations.

Thus :—

abalijo alas ! (0 father)

ijalijo alas ! (0 mother)

abalesa )

> alas !

ijalesa )

ahagandi} expression ol admiration.

huje, expression of terror or surprise.

sessi

y fie ! expressions of aversion.

tzi

atzi

atzigandi

The word gade and aha are used as exclamations

of astonishment.

embaa mimbu manzeri inzihi inzakodditee

gani aha imbaa manzeri gade.

I thought you were there, but, look there ! you
are here, hallo I

11.

NUMERALS.

Numerals are divided in 1. Cardinal,—2. Ordinal,

3. Fractions,—4. Collective,
— 5. Proportional,

—6.

Numerals to express a rate.
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1. CARDINAL.

The Kuvi language counts only up to twenty.

Table.

one1.
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60.
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The numerals one and two are never affixed witt

zanA or gotta* Tliey use special words : as

for masc.

for fern, and neuter

for masc. and fern.

roosi

rondi

riari

ri

!

for fern, and neuter

rindi

These numerals are declinable.

roosi is to be declined according to the first declen-

sion.

PluraL

or rindaska

Singular.

N. rondi one woman, rindi

thing

(j. rondani rindani „ rindaska

D. rondanaki rindanaki ,, rindaskaki

O. rondaa rindaa » rindaskani

When zana or gotta is affixed, the numeral is not

Jeclined, but these two affixes only.

^hus :—

Singular.

N. sari zana four men

Gr. sari zanati

D. sari zanaki (taki)

0. sari zanati

ft zanai

I

or zananga

a zananga

,, zanangaki

M zanangani (ti)
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Singular.

N. tini gotta three

Gr. tini gotta

I>. tini gottaki (taki)

O. tini gottaa

or gottaska

,, gottaska

,> gottaskaki

,i gottaskani

The two numerals pasa ^^^ baro bave a special

collective sense as the}^ denote a number of perEons or

things.

pasa loku zolini hada wennamu.

listen to on people's word.

baro bai westani hada wennaida

listen to the word spoken bj the elders.

For such expressions as two or three, five or six,

the corresponding numerals are simply joined without

any conjunction.

evasi tini sari dabunga tafctesi

he ])rought three or four coins

In a very particular way this numeral may be

conjugated too.

Thus—

nanu
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mambu rootomi we are one

maro rootohi we are one

mimbu rooteri you are one

evari roori they are one (masc. and fern.)

evi rondi they are one (fera. and neut.)

No other verbal forms can be formed. For all other

tenses the auxiliary verb ma (be) must be used.

2. ORDINAL NUMERALS.

It is very sti ange to say, that Kuvi has no ordinal

numerals. They must be translated as follows :
—

e rinda glapiwaha attaltani taada

bring the third one (passing over two, bring

the other one)

sari gara pissiwaha attaltanee mai'

I am living in the fifth house, passing over four

houses, I am in the next one

no mraka attalti mranu ta'umu

cut down the tenth tree

sari gara kuitee mai

or sari gara glaziwaha kuitie mai

from east counting I am in the fifth house

sari gara liitee mai

or sari gara glaziwaha liitie mai

from west counting I am in.the fifth house
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It means I am in the western (kuita) after the fourth

counting four from the east. Or, I am in the eastern

house (liita) after counting four from the west.

When then ordinal numeral—the first—the second

—has to be translated, the word

dakkitasi
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The measurement of a seer is divided in four hola.

The Kuvi language says :

ro holeka equivalent to No. J seer

ri hola „ » „ i seer

4. COLLECTIVE NUMERALS.

If Collective numerals are formed by—baheahi or

Lcamarami

baheahi doso zana aneri

there are about ten men

ramarami ro doso takka pata mazzee

I got about ten rupees

5. PROPORTIONAL NUMERALS.

Proportional numerals are formed by affixing guna
the cardinal numeral.

i illu e illukika tin! guna agada manne*

this house is three tiraes bigger than that.

The affix odu (part) may be used too.

nangekiha evasi riodu agada plizza man-

nesi.

he is two times (parts) taller than I.

6. NUMERALS TO EXPRESS RATE.

These numbers are formed by affixing lekka to

ibers or nouns.

bahetariki ri ana lekka hittee-

I paid to all at the rate of two annas.
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tini zana lekka hazzeri.

at the rate of three they went.

tini gotta lekka kahi, rinda lekka himu
don't give at the rate of three, bub at the rate

of two

izzona lekka padei himu

give at the rate of a few grains

izzora lekka kadu undu
• • •

drink at the rate of a little bit of brandy

FJ^-RT II.

VERBS.

All Kuvi verbs are divided into four conjugations

according to the termination of their root.

The root is the crude form of verb, from which the

various parts are derived. It has the meaning of an

abstract noun.

The first conjugation includes all verbs, of which the

root does not end in h or n.

The second conjugation includes all verbs, of which

the root ends in h-

The third conjugation includes all verbs, of which

the root ends in n-
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The fourth conjugation includes all verbs, of which

the root ends in an aspirated consonant.

There are some irregular verbs, which will be given

afterwards.

Every Kuvi verb has two distinct forms, namely, a

positive form and a negative form.

Every Kuvi verb, which denotes an acting in favour

of another, has a distinct form, which shall be named

the self reference form.

Every Kuvi verb may affix to its root the letter

W or
p.

If any verb not belonging to the first conjuga-

tion does this, it is conjugated according to the first

conjugation.

1. THE POSITIVE FORM OF VERBS.

^s the positive primary verb ma (be) is used in the

formation of all other verbs, we begin with the conjuga-

tion of this verb.

Present Tense.

Singular.

1st person
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Plural.

1st person
"^aitibu mannomi ? ^^ ^^e.^ maro manno 5

2nd person mimbu manzeri you are.

o ^ (n^- ^- evari manneri } J.^3rd person -^
. ^ v«ax iiia^xi-Liv?x

i c

^1^ ^^^^
I f . n. ewi mannu 5

^

It will be noticed, that in the singular, the feminine

and neuter are the same, but in the plural the masculine

and neuter forms may be used. This is contrary to Telugu

rules, where the feminine and masculine forms are the

same.

Rule.—A verb in the third person must agree with its

subjects in gender, number and person.

i barita doso zana kokari manneri

there are ten boys in the school

e barita doso zana potanga mannu
there are ten girls in that school

e zadata sarigotta mraka mannu
there are four trees in the forest

na pedata talomi manne
in my box is a key

i ^jaska oza mannu
these women are beautiful

na manga imbaa manne

my daughter is here

i bakarata hara pipelka mannu
in this room are many knives
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i mranu lekko patka mannu

upon this tree are fruits

kur;i muhe hauta mannesi

the nayudu is upon the chair

maija maba izzo manneri

my mother and my father are at home

The first conjugation is in reality the only regular

form of conjugation. The other three are merely varia-

tions of the first.

2. Conjugation of man (be,)

Infinitive.

present tense mannai be (the be)

past tense mazjai having been

Participle Relative.

present part, manni . being

past part. maz?i having been

Pabticiple Verbal.

present part. manzihi being

past part. manziwaha having been

Present.

"^^Singular. Plural.

nanu mai I am mambu mannomi ) we
ninu manzi you are maro manno j are

15
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Singular. Plural.

evasi mannesi he is mimbu manzeri you
are

edi manne she, it is evari manneri } they
evi mannu J are

FUTUEE.

Singular, Plural,

nanu manzai I shall be mambu manzanomi ) we
ninu manzi maro manno ) be

evasi manzanesi mimbu manzeri

edi manzane evari manzaneri

evi manzauu

Habitoal Present.

Singular,

nanu manzi mai I am in the habit to be

ninu manzi manzi you are „ „

evasi manzi mannesi

edi manzi manne

Plural,

mambu manzi mannomi ) we are in the habit to,

maro manzi manno 5 be

mimbu manzi manzeri

evari manzi manneri

evi manzi mannu
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The Habitual Perfect.

Singular.

1st per. nanu manza mai I was in the habit to be

£d per, ninu manza manzi you are „ „ „

per. evasimanzamannesi he is „ „ „

edi manza manne she, it „ „ „

Plural,

1st per. mambu manza mannomi
maro manza manno

2nd per. mimbu manza manzeri

3rd per. evari manza manner!
evi manza mannu

Past Tense.

Singular,

1st per. nanu mazzee

2nd per. ninu mazzi

3rd per. evasi mazzesi

edi mazze

Plural,

mL&t per. mambu mazzomi
maro mazzo

'

Ipnd per. mimbu mazzeri

8rd per. evari mazzeri
evi ma^ii

> we are in the

you „ „ „

I
they „ „

I was

thou art

he was

she, it was

}
we were

you were

were
I they
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The Habitual Past.

Singular.

1st per. nanu manzi maz^ee I was being=I remain-

ed staying (today)

present.

2nd per. ninu manzi mazzi

3rd per. evasi manzi mazzesi

edi manzi mazze

etc.

The Habitual Past.

1st per. nanu manza mazzee I was being I remain-

ed, staying (for sucli

and such a long time

and for yesterday)

past,

etc.

Indefinite Tense.

Singular.

1st per. nanu mazzeema

2nd per. ninu mazzima

3rd per. evasi mazzesima
edi mazzema

I would be

you would be

he
she 4
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Plural.

1st per. mambu mazz9mima }
^^^ ^^^^^

.

maro mazzohima J

2nd per. mimbu mazzerima you would be

evari mazzer:
evi ma^^uina

Singular,

evari mazzerima
|
^^^^ ^^^^^ ^^

1st per. nanu manzi mazzeema

I would have been

etc.

Impeeative.

Singular. Plural,

be
2nd per. I

»^a^^a
i be ^^^^^

f^ Imannamu 5 manzunga >

mannadu )

3rd per. manampe let it mannapu let them

be be

manno )

manno hima > let us be

mazzo hima )

Particip. Relative.

Present. Past.

manni being mazzi having been
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3. FIRST CONJUGATION.

Conjugation of the Verb wa (to come)

Eoot

Infinitive

TT u ( presentverb, noun ^ ^

Verb,

partic.

Eel. partic. ^

X past

( present
\ past

f prog. pres.

, past

past

Tense

pres.

future

wa
wa, wajali

wanai
watai

waliihi
wahiwaha

wahi manni
waha manni

wahi mazzi
waha mazzi

wai

waini *

warn

wati

prog. pres. {waMmaJ
-{ past watee

Imperative *

prog, past |wahimaz?ee^ ^ ^
I waha mazzee

Inde-fpres. waima
finite ( past wateema

_
In definite wapee

'Sing. 2nd

pers.

f wa
1 wa
waa
wamu

Plur. 1st ( wano
pers. t wanohima

Plur. 2nd ( wadu
L per. I wadunga
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PRESENT TENSE AND FUTURE.

Singular, Plural.

nanu wai or waini I come mambu wanomi ^
we

ninu wadi maro wano 3 come

evasi wanesi evari waderi

edi wane ewi wanu

Pbog. Present.

Singular. Plural,

n
nanu wahi mai I am C mambu wahi mannomi

coming ( maro wahi manno

inu wahi manzi mimbu wahi manzeri

evasi wahi mannesi evari wahi manneri

edi wahi manne ewi wahi mannu

Prog. Past Tense.

nanu waha mai I have been coming

ninu waha manzi

evasi waha mannesi

edi waha manne

mambu waha mannomi

maro waha manno

mimbu waha manzeri

evari waha manneri

ewi waha mannu

in



116

Past Tense.

nanu watee I came mambu watomi i we
maro wato (tii) ) came

ninu wati mimbu wateri

evasi watesi evari wateri

edi wate evi watu

Peog. Past Tense.

nanu wahi mazzee I was coming

nanu waha mazzee I had been coming

To be conjugated regular according to mazzee*

Indefinite Present Tense.

nanu waima
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evasi watesima l^e would have come

edi watema she,it „ „ „

mambu watomima )
^^,^

marc watchima )
" '' "

mimbu waterima you „ „ „

evari waterima ) . i_^
ewi watuma )

" '

Indefinite Tense.

nanu wapee I i^ay come

ninu wamu you „

evasi wapesi h« »>

edi wape ali^> it»

mambu wapomi *)
^^^

maro wapo )
"

mimbu wadu (wawadu) you „

evari wapari )
^^

ewi wapu )
"^

Impeuative.

> come (sing.)

> we will come

wadu i come (plur.)
wadunga J

Relative Pabticip.

waa
wamu
wano
wanohima

coming

have coming
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wahi manni coming

wahi ma^zi have coming

Verb Noun.

pres. wanai the coming

past watai the having come

TABLE OF REGULAR VERBS.

Root... . zol (talk) hat (call) kep do

Verbal nouns | P^^f
' zolinai hatinai kepinai

(past zolitai natitai kepitai

Verbal part ( ^^^^' ^^^^^^ hatihi kepihi^ •

t past zoliwaha hatiwaha kepiwaha

Tenses I ^^^^' ^olai hatai kepai
\ past zolitee hatitee kepitee

Indef j pres. zoliima hatiima kepiima
( past zoliteema hatiteema kepiteema

Indefinitum zolapee liatapee kepapee

Imperative I ^ing.zola hata kepa^ '

( Plur. zoladu hatadu kepadu

Table of Kegular Veu-bs of First Conjugation.

op consent onp think, remember

Ilk dry np herS cheat

ning stand up hend see

her join ilk blow

eng climb itt put down
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hed
•
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4. SECOND CONJUGATION.

Verbs ending in b-

These verbs change h into s or double SS*

Root doh' (build)

Infinitive doh' or dossali

Verb. noun. ( P^'^f
doh'nai

(past dostai

Verb. f pres dossihi

partic. X past dossiwaha

r
prog. pres.

Rel. partic. <{

f dossi manni
j^^j^^

1 dossa manni

pres doh'i

fut doh'ini

ni

Tense.

f dossi mai
I dossa maiprog, pres

past

prog, past

indef.
•

(P^'^^f
( past.

Indefinite dospee

r2ndpers.si.,...{djh:j

dostee

f dossi mazzee
I dossa maVzee

doh'ima
dosteema

Imperative {

mu

r doh^du

L^-OP-P'-o'im^ga
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Table of Regular Verbs of Second Conjugation.

Root . weh' (talk) rih' (begg) goh' (drink)

Verbal C pres. weh'nai rih'nai goh'nai
onns. I past westai ristai gostai

jrbal C pres. wessihi risihi gosihi
part. ( past wessiwaha risiwaha gossiwahaI

Relative i pres. weh'ni
westi

3lative i pres.

part. ( past

»Dses iP^^s. weh'i
^ past westee

lef.
( pres. weh'ima
) past westeema

Idefinitum wespee

[mper-
ative

rih'ni
risti

rih'i

ristee

rih'ima
risteema

rispee

rih'a(sing, weh'a
I plur. weh'du rih'du

goh'ni
gosti

goh'i
gostee

goh'ima
gosteema

gospee

goh'a
goh'du

Verbs of Second Conjugation.

neh' fill ah'

meh' pee hih'

reh' tinrn round

pih'
leave

wih' trample

dah' search

roh' piit

tuh' throw awoy

oh break

oh' fco be entangled

catch

split
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5. THIRD OONJUaATION.

The third conjugation includes all verh>i of which

the root ends in n.

'I'hese verbs are changing n into z or z» ^'^^ ^^'^

losing their n in the presf nt time.

Root wen* (hear)

Infinitive wen' or wenzali

Verb, noun
| J^^^^

Verb.particip.lj^'gJ;

r
prog, pres,

Reh particip. {

{

'l^prog.
past...

I

pres

fut^

Tense

wennai
wezzai

wenzi
wenziwaha

wenzi manni
wenza manni

wenzi mazzi
wenza mazzi

we'i

we'ini

wenni

wezzi

( wenzi mai
( wenza maiprog, pres

<j past

prog. past...
-J

Indef .

I

Indefinitum wennapee

wezzee

wenzi mazzee
wenza mazzee

pres ..we ima
past...wezzeema
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pcrative ^

Table of Regular Vekbs of Tuikd Conjugation.

t pun' (know) in' (talk) man' (be)

rb. f pies...punnai innai mannai
uns. \ past . puzzai izzai mazzai

rb. ( pies. . . . punzilii inzihi manzihi
art. ( past. . . punziwaha inziwaha manziwaha

1.

I pres. ..punni inni manni
art. ( past. . puzzi izzi mazzi

use. \ P^'^f
P^^ }^

^^^
( past. . . . puzzee izzee mazzee

^^^ ^ pres....puima lima maima
( past, . . . puzzeema izzeema mazzeema

-Jjdefinitum punnapee innapee mannapee
IV

ising. ..punna inna manna

Ftive.

) olur i P^^^adu ( innadu t mannadu
( P ( punza I inzu I manzu

Some verbs of tlie third conjugation change their n
the verbal participle into z> if the preceding vowel is

short, bnt if the vowel is long, they lose n entirely.

In the Imperative n is changed into 1.

(Table.
t han' (go) ren' (pull) ren go

about,

wander.

Verb, i pres. . hannai rennai renai
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Verb. ( pres. . . . hazzihi

part. ( past. . . hazziwaha

hanni
hazzi

Rela. ( pres.

part. ( past.

Indef. \^''

Indefinitum

..hai

. hazzee

es... haima
iist...liazzeema

sing.

Impe-
•ative. i

piuj.

•hallapee

. .halla

( halladu
( hazzu

rezzihi rezihi
rezziwaha reziwaha

renni
rezzi

rei

rezzee

rem
rezi

rei

rezee

reima reima
rezzeema rezeema

rellapee relapee

rella rela

i relladu ( reladu
( rezzu ( rezu

6. FOURTH CONJUGATION.

The fourth conjugation includes all verbs, of which

the root ends in an aspirated consonant.

These verbs do not use the affixing verbal consonant

in the past tense, but add tbe verbal personal termi-

nations direct to the verbal root.

Root orh' (bear)

Infinitive Orh' or orhali

^-'>—»
{^S:::::::;:;;:::iS'

v»b.p«i«. {p'.::::::;:;;;:::f{;Laha
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Relative part. {

"'*- ^ijJlraZi"'"''

f orhi mazzi

ease

I prog. past. ...
-j ^^(^^^

ixx«,^£.x
] g j^.

L^
^ ^ lorhamazzi j"^"^

pres orhi

fwfc orhini

.prog. pros. i2^Ji^ai;.
-{

^ ^ ^
I orna mai

past orhee

.ense

prog. past. . ..forhimazzeeL^ ^ ^
I orlia mazzee

{indef. p^^s....or}iima, past....orheema

I Incls^ orhpee

f2nd per. sing....6rha

Imperative <{

orhamu

2nd per. plur....orhdll

ordhunga

Table of Regular Verbs of Fourth Conjugation.

iioot porh' (dress) inerh' kluph (sink)

lighten one

Verb. ( pres. porhnai merhnai kluphnai
nouns 1 past, porhai merhai klunai

Verb j pres. porM merM kluphi
part. (past, porhiwaha merhiwaha kluphiwaha

17
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Relat. (pres. porhni merhni kluphni
pare. ( past, porhi merhi kluphi

Tenge i P^^^* P^^^^ merhi kluphi
•

'^past porhee merhee kluphee

Indef ^ P^'^^' P^^hi^^ merhima klnphitna
( past, porheema merheema klupheema

Indefinite porhpee merhpee kluphepee

Impe- ( sing, porh'a merh'a kluph'a
rative. ( plur. porhdu merhdu kluphdu

Tablk of Regular Verbs of Fourth Conjugation.

porh lurk, swim tlillh' slaughter

dulh'
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edi hijanema

Miambu hijanomima
mimbu hijaderima

evari liijanerima

evi hijanuma

PAst Tense.

nanu hijateema I would have given for

me. to me

ninu
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hidunga
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i kokari hotter! these boys ran away,

i kokari hottateri these bojs came running

An example to show the difference.

ua dokara minge tonza ausi

my husband does not appear to you

na dokara nange tonza ajuusi

my husband does not appear to me.

The Third PARTicaLAR Verb Form.

It is very common in Kuvi to put w or b to the

root of the verb. This verb is q'tiasi modo created a new

verb and must be conjugated according to the first

conjugation, even if the genuine root belonged to any

other conjugation.

These forms express an habitual continuous doing

and are used very commonly.

Examples.

Root, Neiv root. Past tense. New past

tense.

pun know punb puzzee punbitee

wen hear wenb wezzee wenbitee

ban go halw hazzee halwitee

ren pull relw rezzee reliwitee

in Bay inb izzee inbitee

tin eat tinb tizzee tinbitee

orh bear orhw orhee orhwitee
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porh
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8. SOME IRREGULAR VERBS.

^oot U, drink gla (trans- ren (go re(climb

gress)

Verb. Cpres. unnai gla'nai
nouns I past, uttai glatai

about) down)

renni
rezai

renai
ratal

Verb,

part.

fpres undihi glazlhi
<past. undi- glazi-
( waha

Relative C pres. unni
parfc. ( past, utti

Tenses i ^'^^'' ^l
(past, uttee

waha

gla'ni
glati

glatee

rezihi rezihi
razi- rezi-

waha waha

rem
razi

•

rei

razee

ra'ni
rati

rai

ratee

(pres. uima glaima raima raima
Indef. <past. utteema glateema rezae- ratee-

( ma ma

Imper- 1
^

ative. i 1

f plur.

rea
remu
rezu

remu
rea
radu

utina gla'a

undu gla'du

A special form is the following :
—

henga watomi is equal to hendali watomi

we came to see

hodga watere

they came to enter

9. ON THE NEGATIVE FORM OF VERBS.

The negative form is commonly expressed by affix-

ing a, short a to the verb root or by affixing the negative

primary verb hill (not be). The euphonic rules must
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be well rerrembered ; namely—a vowel, when it follows

a preceding one, takes the sound of the latter.

I

The Negative Peimary Verb.

Present Tense.

Singular. Plural,

per. nanuhilloo I - not
{ ^fjj^u

hiUoomi

per. ninu hilluudi mimbu hilluuderi

3 Der i ^v^si hilluusi evari hilluuri
^ *

( edi hillee evi hillau

Past Tense.

Singular, Plural.

1 Der i ^^^^ hillaatee I was C mambu hillaatomi
^ *

\ not \ marc hillaatohi

2 per. ninu hillaati mimbu hillaateri

^x r.r»^ i evasi hillaatesi j evari hillaateri
^ P^"^-

1 edi hiUaate 1 evi hiUaatu

Indefinite Tense, Present.

Singular, Plural,

( nanu hillooma 1 niay ( mambu hilloomima
^

'\ be not
i marc hilloohima

per. ninu hiUuudima mimbu hilluuderi-

ma

3 Der i ®vasi hiUuusima i evari hillunrima
P

( edi hilleema ( evi hillauma

IS

I
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Past.

Singular, Plural.

1 per. nanu hillaa- I may not mamtu hillaa-

teema l^ave been tomima
2 per. ninu hillaatima etc.

3 Der ^^vasi hillaatesima
^

cedi hillaatema

Indefinite Form.

Singular. Plural.

J
(nanu hillaapee I sliall mambu hillaapomi^
c not be maro hillaapohi

2 per. ninu hilleani mimbu hillaadu

3 Der l^vasi hillaapesi evari hillaaperi
^ (edi hillaape evi hillaapu

P^rtioin IP^^sent hillaa not being )^I'aiticip.
|p^^^ hillaati not been f 0(0

It is remarkable that, contrary to Telugn, negative

verbs take the forms of conjugation even in the past

tense.

evaska niju koddiwaha hallaatu or hazza
Hillaatu

they purchased oil, but did not go

evari e illu dossa hillaateri

CO CO

they did not build that house.
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EXERCISES ON THE NEGATIVE

PRIMARY TENSE.

imbaari barita hillaateri

nobody was in the school

nanu embaa hillaatee

I was not there

pata muhe enai hillee

there is nothing upon the table

i kila nehi hillee

this penholder is not good

e timbuta osso hillee

there is no medicine in the bottle.

e nato potanga hillaatu

there were no girls in that village

embaa kodinga hillau

there are no oxen

evasi gadata hilluusi

he is not in town

ninu oza hilluudi

you are not nice

ninge lohodi hillaape

you may be without food

tanu ninge todu hillaapesi

he may not be of any help to you
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Negative Forms oe the Verb a (become).

Present Tense.

Singular,

1 - Ti.
• X T ( mambu ae, or aomi

1 per. nanu ae It is not I ]
"
5I"" f^T'

2 per. ninu ae mimbu ae, or auderi

Q r^^,. y evasi ae or ausi f evari ae, or auri
'^P^'- ledi ae tevi au

Past Tense.

Singular,

1 per. nanu aatee It was not i mambu aatomi
I 1 maro aatohi(ai)

2 per. ninu aati mimbu aateri

3 Der ^ ^vasi aatesi ^ evari aateri
^ *

<t edi aate i evi aatu

Imperative ae* no

ue, no

hao, yes

kahi, do not

Prog. pres. nanu ahi hilloo I am not becoming

Prog. past. nanu ahi llillaatee I was not becoming

The Negative Conjugation of kep {^0).

Past verb partic kepaanaha (not doing)

Verbal noun kepaatai
Relative partio » kepaa

I
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\V::-]
tepoo

Tenses
\
P^^^' P^®^- .kepa MUoo

past kepaatee

Undef kepaateema

^sing ..Ij^iPaani
iperative < ( kepai

'plnr kepaadu

The Negative Tenses of kep (<3o).

Pkesent.

Singular, Plural.

1 per. nanu kepoo I do c mambu kepooini
not I maro kepaai, kepoohi

2 per. ninu kepuudi mimbu kepuuderi
3 per. evasi kepuusi evari kepuuri

edi kepee ewi kepau
Peog. Past Tense.

Singular, Plural,

nanu kepa hilloo I ha\re ( mambu kepa hilloomi
not done

( maro kepa hillaai

ninu kepa hilluudi mimbu kepa hilluu-

deri

evasi kepa hilluusi evari kepa hilluuri

edi kepa hillee^ evi kepa hillau

B Past Tense.

V Singular. Plural.

nanu kepaatee I did not ( mambu kepaatomi
do

( maro kepaatohi

ninu kepaatl mimbu kepaateri
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Singular, Plural,

evasi kepaatesi evari kepaateri

edi kepaate evi kepaatu

Indefinits Tense.

Present.

Singular. PluraL

nanu kepooma I would Cmambu kepoomima
nofc do ( maro kepoohima

ninu kepuudima mimbu kepuuderima

evasi kepuusima evari kepuurima
edi kepeema evi kepauma

Past.

Singular, PluraL

nanu kepaateema I would (mambukepaatomima
not do ( maro kepaatohima

ninu kepaatima mimbu kepaaterima

evasi kepaatesima evari kepaaterima

edi kepaatema evi kepaatuma

To express a negative force, the verb is very com-

monly repeated.

Thus :—

nanu kepalie kepoo I do not at any rate

ninu kepalie kepuudi

evasi kepalie kepuusi

etc, ^
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A special form is sometimes used for the first

person.

nanu kepoo or nanu kepoonie I do not (certainly)

nanu hijoo or nana hijoonie I do not give

f"nu

hilloo or nanu hillconie I am certainly not

sure

To give a strong affirmative, the negative habitual

present and future tense preceded by a negative past

^erb participle is often used, as—

weh'aki pih'o

I shall not fail to tell

i illu doh'aki pih'o

I shall not fail to build the house

wie natana waaki tappee

you must certainly come to me tomorrow

na sazzu oaki tiree, or oanaha tiree

you must take my things away

Instead of anaha (not being) very often aki

because not) is used.

kepaanaha hallamu

not doing, go

kepaaki hallamu

because you did not do, go
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ninu waaki batikiomi

you did not come, therefore we did not divide it

mimbu weh'aki imba mai

because you did not say, therefore I am here

A prog. pres. tense, an hab. pres. and fut. tense, or

a past tense, are sometimes formed by prefixing the neg.

past, verb participle to the tenses, as—

liallaanaha maijzee

I was not going

nanu i palu unna anaha mai

I am not drinking this milk

The negative imperative is very often formed by

adding hallaani to the infinitive of any verb, as

kepali hallaani

do not do it

i randa tinza hallaani

do not eat this rice

Remark.—In the same way the positive form (halla-

mu) is very commonly used.

The negative imperative is often formed by affixing'

ai to the root of any verb.

ningai
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hatai do not call

ukai do not blow

weai do not beat

weai do not burn

takai do not walk

honnai do not run

The negative imperative is also formed by affixing

^i to the root of any verb.

B teka ani do not carry

B ela ani do not reign

hen'ani do not see

engaani do not climb

The negative imperative may be formed by affixing

kahi (do not) to the verb noun, first or second form.

kepalikahi I do not do
kepmai kani 5

laginai or lagali kahi do not scoff

ileti kamma ninu entamatromi kepinaie

kahi

you should on no account do this work

10. CAUSAL VERBS.

The causal verbs, let do, or to cause to do, etc., are

formed by affixing the verb ki (do) to the root of the

verb, these verbs conjugate only the affixed verb ki.

kepiwaha doing kepikihiwaha letting do

ZOlitee I spoke zolikittee I let speak.

19
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me'hemu see mespikimu show

kuggiteri they sit kuggikitteri they let sit

ninu wati you came wawikitti you let come

paiwaha beating paikihiwaha letting beat

11. COMPOSITE VERBS.

The composite verb can do, can go, etc., is formed

by affixing the verb ad (can) to the second infinitive

form ending in ali-

Present Tense.

Singular, Plural.

nanu kepaladii I
canjmambu keT3aladinomi
do )mara —adinai '(ohi)

ninu kepaladidi mimbu—adideri
evasi kepaladesi evari —adineri

or kepaladinesi

edi kepaladine evi —adinu

Negative Present Tense.

nanu kepaladoo I cannot } mambu kepaladoomi
do 3maro kepaladai

nin kepaladuudi mimbu kepaladuud-

eri

evasi kepaladuusi evari kepaladuuri

edi kepaladee evi kepaladau
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Examples.

naau i randa tinzali adaalee

I could not eat this rice

ninu i kamma kepaladuudi

you cannot do this work.

evasi nehikihi zadawali ada hilluusi
• • •

he cannot read well

mambu i glaju karhali adoomi

we cannot dig out this hole

maro evaritulle hazzali adinohi

we can go with them

mimbu wajali adaateri enaataki?

why could you not come ?

evari mammaa messali aduuri

they cannot see us.

i kodinga harra tinzaladau

these oxen cannot eat grass

ninu e kamma kepaladidiki ? ae ! liaaba

can you do this work ? No ! yes, sir

12. THE REFLEXIVE VERBS.

Reflexive verbs d.re formed by affixing kodd (buy)

jO the infinitive of any verb. Such verbs denote that the

;action is performed for the benefit of the subject.

nanu i pusponika mriha kodditee

I learned the story (for myself)
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ezzela wazzakodditeri

when are you cooking (for yourself)

kamma (tangetaki) kepakodditesi
he did the work for hiroself

biza tanu mattakodditesi• • •

he sowed the seed himself

evari tambu tambue glakhakodditeri

they stabbed themselves

idi tani himbori razakoddite

she washed her cloth

In some instances the difference in meaning between

the simple and the reflexive form is so great, that they

must be expressed in English by different words.

Thus :—

punza know punzakodda explore

inza say inzakodda think

ivasi donga atesiki aatesiki punzakoddi-

tee

I found out if he was a thief or not

mimbu beheteri waderi inzakodditee

I thought you all would come

The causal form and the reflexive form are some-

times combined.

Thus :—

evari kodi huzziteri

they put on the little piece of cloth
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evari kodi huzzakodditeri

they put on the cloth-piece themselves

evari kodi huzzikitteri

they let the cloth be put on

evari kodi huzzikihakodditeri

they let the cloth be put on for themselves

A class of verbs is formed by affixing the verb "bad

to nouns.

Thus :—

raha the joy rahataditee I rejoiced.

wahu the trouble wahubadii I suffer

bada the trouble badabaditee I suffered

nanu rahabaditaki evaraki raha hote

they had joy, because I was happy

idanaki wahu mazze lakka bahe kokari

wahu baditeri

she suffered, therefore all boys suffered.

In the same way verbs are sometimes formed by

affixing the verb kl (do) to nouns.

Thus :—

wahukijali to trouble

iddakijali to sleep

azzi kepali (or (kijali) to frighten.

hommutaki evasi nanaa haree wahu

kijatesi .

he troubled me much for money
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idda kinanakiV .„.„ i-ria+oei* 1
iddahonanakirssohijatesi

|

he gave medicine to sleep (for sleep)

The verb tuh' (throw) is often added to the verbal

participle of another verb to express completeness,

waha tuh'umu come

tusa tuh'umu throw away

rezza tuh'umu take it out

evari daza tusteri they cut away

i kodinga hakkitaki bahe pizu tinzatustu

the oxen have eaten all grass

purlanga ajatustu, kumdanga srihatustu

hurvinga lezzatustu

Anapa fruits bore well, pumpkins got spoiled,

zickula fruits got overripe.

13. THE EMPHATIC VERB.

A particular verbal combination is formed by

affixing ka to any verb, which then expresses more force.

hia give or hlka give (go to give)

Peesent Tense.

Singular, PluraL

nanu hikai I go to give (
mambu kikanomi

b h
^ maro hikano

ninu kikadi mimbu hikaderi
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Singular,

evasi hikanesi

edi hikane

Singular.

nanu hikatee

ninu hikati

etc.

Verb, noun

Verb, partic.

Rel. part.

Plural,

evari hikaneri

evi hikanu

Past Tense,

I weDt to give

Plural,

mambu hikatomi

mimbu hikateri

etc.

C pres. hikanai
( past, hikatai

f pres. hika hazzi mai
i past, hika hazzi mazzee

( pres. hikani

( past, hikati

r • ^ ihikamu
•'"''^•Ihikahallamu

Imperative i .^ikadu
L^^"""^- 1 hika halladu (hazzu)

i hommu tulle ninaa pantoo, nanu hikai

I do not send you with the money, I go to give

it

nanu endu meskai

I go to see the game

e nonieri gattanai meskatesi

he went to see the sick
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evasi evani kamma kepikikatesi

he went to let do his work

e kokara'i meskamukeo

go to look for the boys

14. THE PASSIVE VERB.

In Kuvi it is entirely impossible to change an active

verb into a passive verb, by adding any affixes to it.

Passive forms are entirely unknown. There must be

used some other circumscription to express passive.

1. The verbal noun with the relative participle of

pa (receive) may be used in combination with the verb

a (become)

nanu paiitee

I beat

nanu painani patatee atee

I was beaten

nanu painani atee would mean :

I became a stick, {i, e,, the beating instrument)

piduguwalla evasi weenani patasi atesi

I was stroken by lightning

Sapura muhunani patasi atesi

Sapura was buried

zidinga linai or littinai ate

the clock is rung

Zinguda adini meda atasi atesi

Zingudu was married
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2. A passive sense is expressed by aflGxicg tlieverb

han (go) fco a verbal participle or infinitive.

i dimbu torga hazze

the bottle is broken

i wada munza hazze
• • •

this steamer sunk

mranu diha hazze

the tree is splitted

i kokari heda hazzeri

these boys are spoiled

i patka sriha hazzu

these fruits are rotten

3. A passive sense may be expressed by the

personal past relative participle in connection with the

verb a (become), or man (be).

evasi paiitasi atesi

he has been beaten

In most cases Knvi language uses only the active

forms.

evari evanai paiiteri

they beat him, for : he was beaten.

15. DEFECTIVE VERBS.

In Kuvi, as in other languages, some verbs are

iefective.

20
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1. The Verb kalg.

The verb kalg (to get, to become, to accrue} is

conjugated like other regular verbs, but it is generally

onlj used in the third person. It is corresponding to the

Telugu verb kalugu (sOO^) in all its form.

a. The verb kalg has the meaning of the verb

to get, when it is preceded by a dative case.

minge i heru kammavalla nashtomi

kalgiteki ?

had you any damage by cultivation ?

idaa kodditihe labhomi kalgineki ? kalga

hillee

have you profit, if I buy this. I did not get.

b» The verb kalg has the meaning of the verb

zarni a (being born) when it is preceded by a subject

in the masculine or feminine gender.

Thus-

idanaki pasa zana mrika kalgiteri

to her were born five sons

maska zakke kalgiteriki ?

are daughters also born ?

rondie manga kalgite

one daughter is born
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1% The word kaddu is used by persons who are

living together, with Telugu people. Pure Kuvi does

not know this word.

hannati hallehe ro ana beda h^jauai

kaddu

they are in the habit of giving one or two

annas whenever you go.

Pure Kuvi language would be :

ro ana beda hijanai satta

2. The Verb ku.

The verb ku (will not, it is impossible) has the

following tenses :
—

Verb, noun ( pres kunai
(.past kutai

^"^•p--
{P:;:::;:::;:;:::Mtiwaha

Eel. part.
( pres

\ past.

kuni
kuti

prog. pres. ...{^^^^^^1

hab. pres kuini

^ past kutee

prog, past kuhi mazze

indefinite. i kuima or kuuma
( kuteema
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fo^-r^o. i2forra...kumusmg.
kupasi

Imperative. | ,,^^ f 2 form...kudu

LP^'^'^'Is „ ...kupari

ileti kamma kunai lakka baheteri kuteri

such a work is impossible, therefore all were

not willing

na manga ninaa kuujane nanu zakke

hijali kuu

may daughter does not like you, so I myself do

not agree to give her

evasi kupasi, mange nashtomi hillee

he may not do (Sj^^) Ave have no damage

ninn wajali kutihe nanu wai
if you do not come, I will come

maro mestihe kunai

when we see it, there is no consenting

mraka tatteri samma koddali kutai
• •

she brought wood, but we did not consent to

buy

weska ojali watiki, kujali wati ?

did you come to take the wood away, or did you
not come for it ?

ae, kuhi mai

no, I do not

evasi hilii manzanesi samma nanu kuhi
mai

he is ready to give, but I do not consent

I
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nanu ku'ni kamma nange herpaadu
do not deliver work to me, which I do not want

kuti patka wende hikatomi

the fruits, we did not want, we send back

e patka kutai

these fruits are not acceptable

ivasi kunasi, evasi mandinasi

he is one who does not agree, that one agrees

(is one who)

e mangani tattihe nanu (kuu or kuuni)

if you bring that girl, I do not consent

mimbu e kodinga kodditihe mambu
kunomi

when you buy those oxen, we do not agree

zaduwamu izzihe na tanzi kutesi

my father did not agree to read

evasi ninaa hatatihe ku'mu

if he calls you, do not agree (do not go)

ninu ku'mu evasi zakke kupasi

do not agree, he too shall not agree

e kokari hallehe kahino inzatizakke maro

kuno

even it* all those boys say we will play, we will

not agree

ivasi kunasi lakka kepini kamma kutesi

he is not willing, therefore he did not do the

work, which was to be done
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papomi kunesi punnemi kunesi

lie does not agree i'or sin or good work. This

phrase is very usual
Ij^

used for a man, who is

mild.

3, The Verb no-
'

The verb nO (to pain, to have pain) is used in two

different meanings.

a. If it is conbined with the word ZIWU? it has the

meaning I iove aud is regularly conjugated throughout.

nanu eyaiiai ziwu noi

I love him

evasi nanaa ziwu nojatesi

he loved me

evasi evarai ziwu nottesi

he loved them

nanu ninge i hommu ziwu nohi manzai

I grant you this money

h. If the verb nO has the meaning of have pains, it

is used impersonally only.

traka pisa nohi manzane

I have a headache

ileti hada lagatihe ziwu nojane
if yon speak such words I have pain
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ro debba wehatihe nojee (noe) ro hada

inzatihe nojane (none)

if you beat me (bim), I have (lie has), no pain, if

you talk a word, it pains me (him)

4. The Verb mu.

The verb mu (be able, enough, sufficient) is conju-

gated like other verbs. It is irregular with its verb

participle.

,^ ^ Cpres mnnai
Verb. noun.

| J^^^ ^^t^i

,^ , ^. (pres mnzihi
Verb, partic. | ^^^^ muziwaha

Rel. part,
Cpres muni
tpast muti

Drosr.
; P pres.

Cmui:
I muz
muini
muzi mai

Tenses. i

] past mutee

prog. past. muzi mazzee

indef i
muima
muteema

( sincr mu'mu
[mperative. | ^^^^ ^^'^^

munasi the able man.

Examples.

bahetikiha nanu mutee

I was more able than all
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wataraki hallehe nanu miiza perhce
I was enough to send away all them who came

kohu bitri hauta mutesi

the uajudu was strong in (gained) the suit

bandi rezzali balietikiha idi mutai

this is the most able one to pull the bandy

i kamma kepali idi mu'ni goda
this is a horse able to do the work
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Rel.past. iP^^f- ™J\i^
( past, haliti

ImDerative I ^^^^- halamu
impeiative

|p^^^^ haladu

nanu i kamma halii lakka ninu zakke

halamu

I am safficient for this work, therefore you
must be too

i nela kothali hali mazzeri atihe mambu
haloomi

you were enough to cleau this field, but we are

not sufficient (we cannot do).

izzi hali kepali mambu hali hilloomi

we are not enough to make such a noise

6. The Verb ra.

The verb ra (been sold, been finished, Telugu

'SOO^) is used as a personal verb and conjugated in

all tenses.

Present Tense.

nanu raini I am fit for sale, saleable

or

nanu rahi mai I am fit for sale

Past Tense.

nanu ratee I was fit for sale

I am sold

nanu rahi mazzee I am sold

21
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Relative past |
P^^^' 4??

( i
ast. rati

Imperative. I ^^,°^"!^" ^1^^^
( plural radu

ranesi the man who is saleable

Examples.

i tota pasa takka taki ratihe tatsa hijai

when the garden is valued five rupees, I shall

bring them

i gorri tini takka taki ranai

this sheep is three rupees value

i koju takka taki rate

this cock is sold for one rupee

rani harka enaataki rapaati

things fit for sale, why did you not put them

for sale

nanu rapee ninu mannamu
let me be for sale (take service), you may stay

i patka ranu

these fruits are fit for sale

7. The Verb wale. ^ ^ C^.

The verb wale (must) is only used when a per-

sonal pronoun precedes it and it cannot be conjugated.

nanu kepali wale I must do

ninu kepali wale jou must do

evasi kepali wale
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edi kepali wale

mambu kepali wale

maro kepali wale

mimbu kepali wale

evari kepali wale

evi kepali wale

Sentences as : tliat work has to be done, is translat-

ed : e kamma kepinai ahamanne-

kdoh'ni

illu doh'du

build tlie house, which is to be built

ninu i kamma kepinai

you must do this work

ninu kepinati, evasi kepinasi

you and he must do the work

8. The Verb kudee.
•

The verb kudee (must not, shall not) is only used,

when a personal pronoun precedes and cannot be conju-

gated.

manei abhatomi zokodi zolinai (uinai)

kudee

people shall not tell a lie

nanu wanai } kudee I shall not (am pro-

nanuwajali)
*

hibited to) come

ninu wanai kudee you shall not come

evasi wanai kudee he „ „ „

etc.
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1 kokanaki hommu hinai kudee

do nofc give money to this boy

i kamma kepali kudee

this work is prohibited

embaa hazzali kudeeki?

is it prohibited to go there ?

hao, embaa hannai kudee

yes, it is prohibited to go there

This verb kudee may be used in some phrases even

as a positive verb.

Thus :—

ninge kudee nange kudane

you shall not, I may

Salurtaki hazzali nange kudate

I may go to Salur

9. The Verb kavali

This verb cannot be conjugated and is always used

with the dative case and has the meaning of the English

verb to want or to require.

nange ro pandukavali, nange liijamunga
I want a fruit, please give it me

ninge kamma kavali izzihe kavali inni

bhumi hijai

If you want work I shall give you any land yoa

want
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The negative form of this verb is not used.

nange i pandu kahi

I do not want this fruit

or nange i pandu kuuni

I do not want this fruit

The Tehigu word "S^^O^c^^J^Sb is not simi-

tlv

used in Kuvi. It must be translated as :
—

na taiibaii

brothers

na gottabondu
relatives

mambu rondie, lolio gondi tinnatomi

we are one, (we are eaters of knife and axe)

(we have one property)

10. The Verb walla and oUa.

This auxiliary verb walla or olla (it is possible) is

used with the nominative or dative case and connected

with the verbal noun or the special verbal infinitive. It

cannot be conjugated and compared with the verb wa or

a (come or become) or man (be).

Bmranu
engali (enginai) olla ae (hillee)

it is impossible for me to climb the tree

ninge i kamma kepali (kepinai) walla

ane

you can do this v/ork
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or: ninu i kamma kepali walla adi, nanu

oUa ao

you can do this work, I cannot

evanaki e pawuta hotali walla wane,

nange olla ajae

he can go into the hole, I cannot

mambu hotihi zolali olla aomi

or : mange hotihi zolali olla hillee

we cannot go in and talk

i piju i banda nenzi kijali olla hillee (ae)

this rain cannot fill this tank

walla ajali hiusi

to do it, he does not agree ; he is not an agree-

able one

mambu zakke zolali olla mannomi

mange zakke zolali olla manne
we can talk too

1.1. The Verb mla.

The verb mla (be of use) is a personal verb and

conjugable throughout all tenses.

Present Tense, Past Tense,

nanu mlii I am of nanu mlitee I was of

use use

ninu mlidi ninu mliti

evasi mlinesi evasi mlitesi

edi mline edi mUte
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mambu mlinomi

maro mlinai

mimbu mlideri

evari mlineri

evi mlinu

Prog. Tense.

nanu mlihi mai

Verb, noun

mambu mlitomi

maro mlitohi

mimbu mliteri

evari mliteri

evi mlitu

Prog, Past Tense.

nanu mlihi mazzee

( pres. mlinai be of use

( past, mlitai been of use

Verb.partic. \^'^l' '^}V^}^
i past, mlltl

Imperative. \'f^'
nilia, or mlimu

^

(plur. mlidu

mlinasi he who is of use

mlitasi be who was of use

Negative forms of mli.

Present ......mlio I am of no use

Past mliatee I was of no use

1 Prog. pres. mlihi manzOO I am of no use

Prog. past...n.inii
{aX''' }

' -^ °^ - -«

Verb. part...mlia useless

sinor. mliani
}
be of no use

i ija odka tana mliajali pada ane

this woman is fit to be useful to the rajahs



164

ivasi betataki mlinesi

this man is fit for hunting

i gorri tinzali dehe mline

this sheep is only useful for eating

ninu razi izzo hazali mliudi, bowa

joii are not fit to go to the Divan's honor>

brother

nanu dehe mhii

but I am fit (to go to Divan's house)

12. The Verb pla.

The verb pla (be big) can be conjugated as a

personal verb through all tenses.

Present Tense, Past Tense,

nanu plii, pliini
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plini big (cOcJ^^-^oSn^)

past, pliti big(c^(^h^)

I„p„.tive. \^ P}|-

plinasi the becoming big one

plitasi the big one

plia small

ro plia pliagattanai sogu wenna da

ask a small one the star

pandiri muhe kandanga mettali plizza

hilluudi

you are too small to put a stick upon the

pandiri

i kadda glazali plio

I am too small to transgress the river

i kajauga essali plii

I am big enough to pluck the fruits

The English auxiliary verb ;—may,may not, shall not,

or the Telugu verb :—^x5b\ (^^ "D^O^D, ^^5 can

be translated in Kuvi by the verbal noun or the special

infinitive.

ninu wie wanai (hannai)

you may come tomorrow, (you may go t>

morrow)
22



166

donga kamma kepinai eda ?

should vou steel ? man !

i pandu tinzali kahi

you shall not eat this fruit

i hada imbaari tulle weh'ai

tell nobody this word ("^^-v"©^^)

i kamma kepinai ae

you shall not do this work

13. The Verb poL ^^n f-^

The verb pol (be right) can be conjugated as a

personal verb, but not commonly used in all verbal forms.

It may be used as a transitive verb with the noun in the

nominative or intransitive with the noun in the dative

case.

Positive.

Fresent.

nanu polii I am or nange poline it is right

right to me

ninn polidi you are ninge poline it is right

right for you

evasi polinesi evanaki poline >,

etc* etc.
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polinesi the right one

poluusi the not right one (the wrong

one)

i kokanaki i pota poline

this girl is right (fit fco marry) for this boy

i natoti kokaraki wallati potanga polau

village girls are not fit for town boys

diheranga trombangaki hati kodi tinnai

polee

astrologers and priests are not allowed to eat a

dead ox.

Remark—1. The English verb (ask) or the Telugu verb

^(^AOdo (ask) are used equally in

the sense of asking questions, as asking

for money. In Kuvi there are two

different verbs for each meaning.

enikihi iianu mai inzihi wezzesi

he asked, how I am

but : evasi ninaa hommu hijamu inzihi ristesi

he asked you to give money

EEMARK—2.- The Kuvi verb ho (to start, to create joy)

is used in very different ways.

nehi gigati wenumbu hotane atihe iile

eleti hadangani wenumbu hotee

to hear a good word is joy, but it is not pl'ea-

sant to hear useless words.
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evasi e nato hotesi

he entered that town

nanke raha hote

(joy was born to me) I rejoiced

evasi embataki hotesi

he started for that place

'jpj^:rt XXT.

SYNTAX.

1.

THE VERBAL NOUN.

1. The positive verbal noun has two special forms

ending in nai for the present tense and tai for the past

tense. Besides these forms there exist two others,

ending in a and u-

According to page 119, each verbal noun can be

changed by affixing w or b to the verbal root.

Singtilar, Plural.

^^. keDU the doing N. kepunga the doings

('^. keputi G. kepunga
I>. keputaki D. kepungki, aki

O. keputi 0. kepungani
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Singular, Plural.

N. kepa the doing N. kepanga the doings

G. kepati Gr. kepanga
D. kepataki D- kepangki, aki

0. kepati O. kepangani

Singular. Plural,

N. kepuWU the doing N. kepuwunga the doings

Gr- kepuwuti Gr. kepuwunga
D. kepuwutaki D. kepuwungki, aki

0. kepuwu (ti) O. kepuwungani

Singular. Plural.

N. kepinai the doing N. kepinai the doings

G. kepinai G. kepinai

D. kepinanaki D. kepinaskaki

O. kepinani O. kepinaa
In the same way is declined : kepiwinai the doing

kepitai the done thing

kepiwitai the done thing

kepaatai the not done

thing

kepawaatai a ii
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The negative verbal noun may be formed by affixing

hillee for the singular and hiUau for the plural.

2. A verbal noun governs the same case or cases

as the verb of which it forms a part and is permitted to

take a subject in the nominative or in the genitive case.

ninu ilekihi kepinai oza hillee

your so doing is not nice

ni kepinai ilekihi oza hillee

your so doing is not nice

i zijuti takiwinanaki taju himu

give place to walk upon this road

i kepiwitaskaki toUi hommu himu

pay first for things that have been done

e kepiwinaskaki edaju hinai

afterwards you may give for those still to be

done

mimhu kamma kepaataiwa, haspianai

wa, ode hommu rihinai wa enaataki ?

you, not doing the work, are quarrelling and

still, why asking money ? (or : why, though

not doing the work, are you quarrelling and

demanding payment)

3. These verbal nouns are affixed by any post-

positions as in Telugu. Very often, where in Telugu
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the verbal Doim with a postposition is used, Knvi takes

the verbal participle or the special verb infinitive with e

affixed.

evasi wajalie evasi hazzesi

as soon as he came, this one went away

hakki manzalie randa hittee

when he was hungry I gave him food

evani wati wallee haree nashtomi ate

by his coming we had much loss

ma tanzi hatiwalla mambu littomi

we wept, because our father died

i hada westi walla puzzee

I understood because he told, this word

ivari haree dana hiniwalla wahiman-

Lomi

we came because they gave much

4. Instead of a dative case of a Kuvi verbal noun,

there is mostly used the special verbal infinitive. Such

forms are equivalent to the English infinitive.

i illu dossali nange hareka hommu hijat-

esi

he gave me much money to build this house

i mranii paddajali eju wakhee

I poured water to cause this tree to grow
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i pungani tatsali walla hillee

it is impossible to bring these flowers

horu engali wahu hareka manne
it is very difficult to climb the hill

5. Occasionally the verbal noun is used in connec-

tion with the verb a (become). This form expresses

readiness.

evasi hanai aha mannesi

he is dying

i himborka huzzitai aha mannu

these clothes are woven

ni trau bananga datai atu

the hairs of your head have been cut

dagga ani idi hannai aha manne

don't trouble, she is (ready to) going

i takka nange hittai ate

P,

this rupee is given to me

The word enai (why) is often attached as an affix

lio the verbal noun.

L

I.

ninu wanai enai

why do you come ?

ninu watai enai

why did you come ?

23
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The verb, noun is very generally used in Kuvi.

ni kamma kepitai ateki ?

have you done your work ?

i goda nehiahi honai manne

this horse runs well

i nomeri nehi anai hillee

this fever does not go away

2.

THE INFINITIVE MOOD.

The infinitive mood in Kuvi i8 very seldon used,

very often the verbal participle is used for it.

enaa kepi wati

what to do did you come ?

i kokanai weza pisti

you stopped to beat the boy

evasi wessa dakkimatesi

he began to talk

or nanaa wajali hineri

they let me come

wikka dazali hello hittee

I gave an order to cut the grass

Remark.—It must be remembered, that there exists a

great difference between the pre.^. and past,

participles.

kepi watee I came to do

kepa watee I came after having done
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1 . When the English infinitive is governed by a

verb of command, in Kuvi the verbal noun is not used

but the imperative or the indefinite verb.

evanai wamu inzihi weh'mu

tell him to come

evanaki osso himu inzihi hijatesi

he gave me medicine to give it to him

e kokari waparinzihi weh'mu

tell the boys to come

When in English sentences the infinitive mood

stands as the subject to the verb man (to be), it must be

translated in Kuvi by the nominative case of the verbal

noun,

vidie mrihinai nehai

it is good to learn wisdom

mleha adi pana anaha mannai polee

it is not good for a man to be without a wife

r
11

Ther

3.

THE VERBAL PARTICIPLES.

There are three verbal participles in Kuvi.

V 1 1 (positive present... kepihi doing

n^^t"*
< J, past kepiwalia having done

par ic.

^negative past kepa anaha not doing
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1. The letter e is sometimes added to the present

verb, participle, or instead of the affix ihi a long e is

used to express emphasis.

weda hoputie, weda klunipatekakamma

kepe mannesi

he is doing work from morning till evening

minge azzi enai, nanu kuli hihie mai

why ai*e you afraid, I shall (certainly) give

cooly hire

2. The present and past verbal participles in some

special phrases take the affix e or wahee, and have

then the force of the English expression
—

although.

nanu i kamma kihihie kuli hijaateri

although I did this work, they gave no cooly-

hire

mazzo wahiwahee nanaa bezaati

although I came into my house, you did not see

me

ninu embaataki hazziwahee osso panuudi

although you went there, you get no medicine

8. The verbal participles are never used as adjec-

tives as in occidental languages. There exists a special

verbal form, which is used as the adjective. This will

bjpaxplained in the next chapter.
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4. In Kuvi verbal participles are commonly used to

present a succession of finite verbs.

evasi zadata hazzihi, mraka tunhihi,

enaa taanaha midolkihi izzo watesi

he went into the forest, cut trees, but bringing

nothing returned home in the evening

ro klaanie koUiee tone dospihi beda hazzi-

hi ro zadata lussihi rewunga katu

A tiger and a jackal becoming friends went

hunting, came into a forest and watched the

river side

5. The present verbal participle is sometimes

repeated to denote a continuous action.

tinzi tinzihi wezzee

while eating I heard

hazzi hazzihi zolitesi

while he was going he talked

6. In some instances the past verbal participle

may be used absolutely, i. e., with a different subject

from that of the principal verb. In Telugu these forms

are very common, but in Kuvi the affix aki is then

chiefly used.

kaka adiwaha torgitesi

the heat having struck him, he fell down

evanaki daia ataki kamma hittesi or

ahiwaha '^
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compassion having come to him, he gave work

nange hommu halaanaha (halaaki) i

kamma kepaatee
as I had no money I did not do this work

7. In sentences stating the lapse of time the past

verbal participle is always used absolutely and the finite

verb put in the number according to his subject. This

is contrary to grammatical rules in Telugu.

mimbu imbataki wahiwaha ezzora leska

atu?

how many months have elapsed since you

came here ?

nanu minge i osso hihiwaha ezzora

dinanga liazzu ?

how many days passed since I gave you this

medicine

nanu mimaa messiwaha doso dina ate

ten days have passed since I saw you

4

THE RELATIVE PARTICIPLE.

1. In Kuvi relative participles are indeclinable.

There are five different forms.

1. the positive prog, ending in manni (kepimanni)

present

2. „ „ indefi- ending in ni kepini

nite
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3. the positive past ending in ti kepiti

4. tlie negative indef. ending in a kepaa

5. the negative past ending in ati kepaati

zadata hazzimanni mleha e torgiti mranue

e neini mokkongae tammu inzihi nanu

wessalie, evasi—ninge kepaati kamma

nange kepaa kamma aeki ?

When I told the man, who went into the forest to

bring the fallen down tree and the upspringing

shrubs, (the undergrowth) he said :
—the work

not done by you, is this a work to do for me ?

2. When the verb tuh' (as it very commonly

happens) if affixed to any negative relative participle,

this participle has the positive, but the affixed tuh' takes

the negative form. This is contrary to Telugu rules.

raza tuh'ua, (raza tuh'uati) wessatuh'ua

sammemita watesi

he came at a time I had not written, I had not

said

mnu hello patatuh'uatibMmi enaataki

luti

why did you plough the land, you had. no per-

mission
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8. These verbal participles must always stay as

adjectives before tbeir noun and can never as in English

be put after them.

e totata kahimanni kokarai hatamu

call the boys playing in that garden

patamulie ittiti pippelkani nange hijamu

give me the knives laying upon the table

4. There are no forms of a relative participle in th©

passive. The past tense of the participle must be used.

mi walla kepiti kamma nehai ae

the work done by you is not good

na walla tunpiti mranu riha hazze

or nanu tunpiti mranu riha hazze

the tree cut down by me fell down

5. When a relative participle is not preceded by

an antecedent subject, then the relative pronoun which

is included in the relative participle must be the subject;

manzinga kodditi mleha hazzesi

the man, who bought the rice, went away

manaa pelli ajati adi nehai

the wife which 1 married is a good one

mimaa parrati mleha wende watesi

the man who searched for you, returned.
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6, When a relative participle is not preceded by an

object, but subject, the relative pronoun, which is includ-

ed in the relative participle, must be an object.

mimbu raziti pustakomi kodditee

the book which you have written I have bought

nanu dosti illu riha hazze

the house which I built fell down

pokla ittiti guddunga patomi

the eggs, which the hen laid, we have received.I
7. When a relative participle is preceded by a

subject, the relative pronoun, which is included in the

relative participle, is in English connected by some

prepositions.

mimbu zarni taju imbinai

which is the place in which you were born ?

ninu bhumi hitti raidinga shistu hihi-

manzaneri ki ?

do the ryots, to whom you gave the land, pay

their tax ?

ninu traju kinhakodditi pannija penka

taane ki ?

does the comb with which you comb your hair,

brings out the lice?

24

w
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5.

THE NOUN SENTENCES.

I. Introductory.

1. The usual order to form a Kuvi sentence if;

subject, object and verb.

ivasi kamma kepitesi

he did the work

2. Finite verb agrees with its subject in number

and person.

kokari gorringani metteri :^ \pC^

the boys grazed the sheep

mranu akani duUhe

the tree shook off the leaves

3. ^Vhen the subject to the verb is a personal

pronoun, it is often omitted.

e illuti dostee

I built that house

4. When several subjects joined by a copulative

conjunction have only one verb, this verb is put in

the plural number.

ro kokasi ro pota anda water!

a boy and a girl came together
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If any of those subjects are of the first person, the

verb is put in the first person.

nanue na kokarie hotomi

I and my boys started

If none of the subjects are of the first person, but

any of them are in the second person, the verb is put in

the second person

mimbue kuligattarie kamma nista aderi

you and the coolies are lazy

If both the subject are of the third person, the verb

is put in the third person.

kumastee^ kuligattarie kamma nista

aneri

the peon and coolies are lazy

5. Every transitive verb requires an object, but

when inanimate things, especially in the singular number,

are spoken of, the form of the nominative case is gene-

rally used.

na tanzii wamu innamu
tell my father to come

e kodingani nehikihi meh'mu

pasture those oxen well

horu engiwaha ro mranu tamu, kozzeka

mundangani kepino
climb the hill and bring a tree, we shall make

some props.

i
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2. lNTEEEOGi\TlVE SENTENCES.

A question is generally formed by affixing ki to the

verb.

ni dadai hatitiki ?

have you called your elder brother ?

The affix ki naust be omitted in the following cases.

1. When any interrogative sentence contains an

interrogative pronoun or adverb.

enaataki evanai hatiti

why did you call him ?

imbaani kosomi i kamma kepiti ?

for whom did you do this work ?

2. When the affix da, ka is added to the verb.

mi kamma kepiterida ? ue !

have you done your work ? no !

akke ami ! ni gaha manite ka ? haaja !

my girl ! did your wound heal ? yes, mother !

3. When the question refers to two or more

objects, the second noun has no ki-

evasi ninge tanziki, talli ?

is this your father or mother ?

i pandu ninge kawaliki, kahi?

do you want a fruit or not ?

4. The sign of a question is sometimes entirely

omitted and the question shown by the tone only.
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3. Emphatic Sentences.

In order to denote emphasis, some affixes are used.

1. The affix ahi is added to the noun.

nanu ahi zolitee

I spoke

ninu ahi kepalinzihi

you shall do it

tanu ahi hikatesi

he delivered it himself

2. The affix gattee is added to the personal noun.

na tanzi guttee hikatesi

my father himself went to give it

Remark.—It is impossible to say :—kodi guttee wate-

This would mean : (I will not pay any pre-

sent for) the ox came itself (without your

help).

3. The affix q is added to the noun.

gorringa ae kodingee nange kawale

no sheep, I want oxen

ijaska izzoe mannu, pangata hou

llj^H the women remain at home, they do not go

I^P out

mm When it is necessary to express both emphasis and

a question, emphasis is expressed iirst and then ki is

added.

satteeki ?

is it true ?
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ninu embaa niestai i gorreeki ?

is this the sheep you have seen there ?

nezu mestasi ivasiiki ?

is this the man who appeared then ?

4. Sentences Expressing Doubt.

1 . To denote any doubt the letter a or fei is affixed,

or both.

Thus, as :
—

i takka evanaki hijali walle? ikokana-

kiki i potaki ?

to whom shall I give this rupee ? to the boy or

girl ?

nangeki ? evanaki ? or nangekia ? evana-

kia?

to me or to him ?

mannesia hilluusia

if he is or not

evasi izzo mannesia hilluusia kanukodda-
mu

see if he is at home or not

2. The affix a is ofteu added to interrogatives and

gives then an indefinite signification. Such words are

generally used, where the word " some" occurs in English.

evasi imbia hazzesia

he may have gone somewhere

imbaria na hommu donga oteri

somebody has stolen my money.
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3. The doubt in a sentence, as in the English if—is

translated as :
—

osso hijunsiki hijuusiki nanu punnoo
I do not know it' ho gives 'ine medicine or not

edi hanneki halleeki

^if

she goes or not

waneki waeki

L if he comes or iiot

4 Doubt is expressed by adding the affix habu.

evasi hannesabu

perhaps he comes

hommu hitteshabu nanu punnoo
if he has paid the amount, I do not know

5. Honorific Sentences.

.To show respect the plural forms nga or ngO or

io or a are added to words. It is equal to the English

woid : sir or please.

mimbu ma tanaki wie waderikinga ?

are you coming to us tomorrow, Sir ?

haango Shu^ n ru ^ ^r-^

yes, Sir

mimbu baheteri nehiahi manzunga
3^0 u all may be well

henduko, wadua !

look there, Sir, come. Sir !

nomeri kajanengo, toppe wadunga
I have fever, Sir, please come quick



188

6. Indirect Intekrogative Sentences.

These sentences are formed by the affix a-

i kodi ezzela hatea nanu punnoo
when the ox died I do not know

imbini kamma kepitia westada

what work have you done ? tell me

wie imbia hazzia niaraki weh'mu

where you will go to-morrow, tell your people

izzeka hommn eniahi wahi mannea telhai

how so much money comes, I don't know

7. Causal and Conditional Sentences.

These sentences are formed by inzihi (saying)

evasi wie wanesi inzihi wezzee
•

I heard he comes tomorrow

evanaki haree azzi manne inzihi bahe-

tariki telhine

all know that he is very afraid

minge sajomi kepii inzihi nanu westa-

ateeki ?

did I not tell you that I would help you ?

hijai inzihi hijaatesi

saying I will give, he did not give 1

i mranu tun'ani inzihi westesi

he told me not to cut the tree

i illu ninu dosti inzihi nanu nammoo
I do not believe that you built this house
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8. COOBDINATE SENTENCES.

These sentences are formed with inzaha or inzihi-

ninu wati inzaha, naba watesi inzaha,

haata hottesinzaha bahsteri ahi

kla'niti luza perheri

you come and my father came, the naida came

running; they all were driving the tiger.

Ramuda wajali aduusi inzihi, Budha

hatesinzihi, koditi kla'ni kazzite inzihi

weska waha mazzeri

They came to say that Ramudu could not come,

and that Budha had died, and that a tiger

had bitten an ox

9. Remarks on inzihi.

1. When several noun sentences terminated with

'

inzihi are attached to each other, the last vowel of inzihi

is lengthened or a short e is affixed.

eyasi nehasinzihi, nehi edu wessi man-

nesinzihi bahetarai ziwukinesinzihi

Inanu

punzakodditee

I discovered to know that that man is good

and teaches wisdom and loves all

evasi wie wanesinzihie, nehi harkunga
ta'nesinzihie wezzee

I heard he comes to morrow and brings nice

things

25
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2, When the verb in (say) is used instead of Well =

(say), inzihi is generally omitted and in is joined by

contraction to the preceding word.

i pustakomi ta'mu izzesi

he told to bring the book

i kamma kepaanizzesi

he told me not to do this work

tanu embaataki hallaatesinneri

they tell me that he did not go there

3. Instead of inzihi very often lehe is used. But
i

in these cases it is to be remarked, that the form with

lehe usually expresses a certain degree of doubt.

i pustakomi ninu zad iwitilehe wezzee

I heard, that you have read this book

ni pariksha hittilehe westesi

he fold me, that you passed your examination

evani kokari nehi hillaalehe aku wate

there came a letter, that) his children were not

well

ro wishomigatti razu tanai kazzitilehe

azzituUe hottatesi

he came running (to us) fearing, that a poison-

ous snake had bitten him.
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4. The word inzihi is used idiom'itically to expi-ess

reason.

nehi hillaagattasinzihi osso hittee

I gave medicine because he is sick

kokari pota inzihi zarpitee

theJ are children, therefore I excused them

himbori hillaatasinzihi himborka hittee

I gave him clothes because he had none

5. The tAvo relative participles (inni and izzi) of

the verb in are used, where in Enslish the word called is

'

used.

Kamuda inni barika

the village servant called Ramudu

kushtu inni dukha

^
the illness called leprosy

gauri izzi pota
the girl called G-aura

! hate izzi pota nideemanne

the girl, which was pnmounced dead, is living

6. The words inni and izzi are also used idiomati-

cally to attach a sentence to a noun to give an explanation

[;o it.

hanomi inni azzitaki hottomi

we went away because of fear to die

tange haree zitomi wane inzihi blajuti

mannesi
he is with strength (powerful) because he gets

much salary
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7. The words inni, izzij are also compounds with

hada (word) to express a special force,

evasi hinesizzi hada kodde warraie

he promised to give, but it is useless

8. The verbal nouns innai, and izzai are idio-

matically used as follows :
—

beibili innai paramushesa zokodi

the Bible which is called God's word

Gauru innai idie

this woman which is called Gauri

Ramasagromi izzai kazza banda Salurita

manne
the big tank called Ramasagara is at Salur

9. The word izzihe ^^ very often attached with

enaa, as enaa izzihe, and has then the meaning of :
—

as any one says, as follows, it means,—

talita kumi izzihe izati' ningamu inzihi

lesu Kristu westesi

jesus Christ said talitha kumi, which means :

little one, sit up.

odu watati westai enaa izzihe :

when the king came he spoke as follows:

ro koheesi inzatai enaa izzihe :—koska,

guddunga bogda gorri tatsihi wapariko
the peon said as follows:—you may bring

fowl's eggs and a ram
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10. The meaniDg of izzihe enai is, it means—

papomi i?zilie enai ?

what means sin ?

satta izzihe enai ?

what is truth ?

11. The word izzihe is sometimes shortened into

, ge (it means), Telugu Qf)O0»

lekkoze hagu hukkanga mannu lokize

bhumi manne

above it means there are clouds and stars,

below it means there is the earth

ADVERBIAL SENTEJSrCES.

All sentences which occupy the position of an

adverb are called adverbial sentences. Certain verbal

affixes as lehe, ati> etc, are added.

Lnanu

westilehe imbaasi kamma kepa-

atesi

nobody did the work as I had sold

nanu watati ninge telheeki ?

do you not know when I came ?

nanu osso hittati ninu waati

you did not come, when I gave medicine
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1. Adverbul Sentences expressing Conditions.

These sentences are formed by affixing certain

verbal affixes expressing condition, as : he, edala, purre.

dostati kamma kepaatipurre kuli hijooda

if you do not do the work, which is shown, I

shall pay no cooly hire

nange kuli hijadihe wai, hijaatihe wao
if you give me cooly hire, I shall come; if you

do not give, I will not come

nanu wai izzihe, enaataki nammuudi
if I tell you I am coming, why do you not

believe ?

ninu hatiedala mambu eni anomi

if you die what will become of us ?

Eemark 1.—The affix lehe izzihe is very often used

to express a conditional sentence.

hommu mannilehe izzihe

is equal to :

hommu mazzihe

if I had money

ninu wanilehe izzihe ni sangati he'no

if you come I thall attend to your business

Kuvihhaha nehiahi zapinilehe izzihe

ninge raha

if you learn Kuvi well, you will have joy
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Eemark 2.—In ordinary conversation the aflBx he is

very frequently used, as :
—

nanu embaa watihe wezzesi, wezzihe

evasi hatatesi/ hatatihe evasi littesi,

littihe edi wahi ritti, rittihe evasi tam-

pitesi,tampitihe edi edanidoste, etc, etc.

when I came there he asked me, when he asked

he called, when he called, that man wept,

when he wept, that woman came, w^ien she

came, he was quiet, when he was quiet, sho

showed that, etc., etc.

2. Adverbial Sentences expressing a Cause.

1. These sentences are formed by affixing certain

verbal affixes expressing cause, as aki.

ninu hazzaki nehi atesi

because you went, therefore he got well

piju wataki hizidi ate

it got cool because it rained

doho kepitaki wetatee

l| I beat him because he did a fault

I ninu hommu astaki, evasi hatalie ninu

1^^ astaki mimbu riateri hoteri

as you have taken the money and as you were

answering when they were crying, so you

both went (to jail).
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2. The wordii zakke. mcddi, wa, samma, when

affixed to a passed or negative relative participle, conveys

the force of the English word although, not even.

nanu licmmii hittizakke kamma kepaa-

tesi

although I gave money they did not do their

work

osso uttizakke nehi aatesi

although he took medicine, he did not get well

piju watizakke hizidi aate

although it rained, it was not cool

wahu atimoddi randa hillee

although I work hard, I have no rice

evasi barita watiwa zitomi hiatesi

although he went to school- he paid no fees

ezzora bede hatitiwa wenzaati
• • •

although I called so many times, you did not

hear

bahateri hottatusteri roosi moddi manna

anaha

all went away not even one remaining

hizzu ganda moddi hillaate

there was not even the smell of tire
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3. These forms are also used, where in English the

expression,—whether—or not,—is used.

ninu hittiwa rondie, hiattiwa rondie

it is the same whether you give or not

ristiwa rih'atiwa enizakke hyanesi
he will give you, whether you ask or not

4. The word lakka (therefore) is used in causal

sentences, as :
—

ninge nomeri lakka hunzamanna

you have fever, therefore lay down

paramusheesi nanaa hendi manzanesi
lakka azzi hillee

God sees me, therefore there is no fear

3

The Negative oe Privative Conditional.

Sentences of this kind are formed by the conditional

form he> which gets changed into hie, followed by gani ;

or by dehe? followed by gani or samma.

i kamma ninu kepitihie gani ninge kuli

hijoo

,» or: i kamma ninu kepitiedehe samma kuli

jt
hijoo

^^^P If you do not do this work, I will not pay cooly

hire.

mimbu wahu atiedehe gani randa panu-
uteri

tun
less you work hard, you will get no rice

26
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nange hizzu hijatiedehe (hijatihie) gani
(samma) wazzali adoo

unless you give me fire, I cannot cook

nange hizzu hijati gani eju hillau, lakka

eju hijatiedehe mliu

you gave fire, but no water, therefore unless

yoa give water, it is of no use

4

Adverbial Sentences expressing Purpose.

These sentences are formed :

1. By using the dative case of the verbal noun—

kepinanaki ninaa panditee, edaju kepi-
tanaki knli hiini

I sent you to do it, afterwards I shall give cooly

hire for the work done

wie hannanaki zolkiadu

talk it over, to go tomorrow

matuUe hannanaki nehikihi weh'du
tell them well to go with us

2. By using the special verbal infinitive ending in li.

evasi kamma mrihali hotesi

he went to learn the business

ro herukammagattaDaki lujali, itki per-

hali, bizanga mattali, tonunga trizali,

ileti kammanga mannu
a farmer has to plough, to weed, to sow and to

pul! a brush over it
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3. By using affixes as kosomi, uppara
—

patka koni kosomi mranu engitesi

he climbed the tree to pluck fruits

e nato re'ni uppara hazzeri

they went to live in that town

imbaa manzali kosomi watee

I came to stay here

4. By using the affix inzihi

imbaa manzalinzihi watesi—

he came to stay here

batkalinzihi watesi

he came to live

5. The affix lehe may be used in some phrases, but

lit is chiefly used as a comparative
—

e kamma nehikihi kepinilehe weh'du

tell them to do that work carefully

evasi ni doru razinilehe inna

tell him to write your name

but :—nanu kepinilehe ninu kepamu
as I do, 80 you shall do

6. The verbal participle pros, is used to express a

])urpose
—

11

hommu itti hazzesi

he went to put this money

e kamma kepi hazzeri

they went to do that work

I
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Remark 1.—It. must be remarked, that not all finite

verbs can be used with the vei'bal

participle.

Remark 2,—It must be remembered, that verbal participle

past would give a very different meaning.

i hommu itta hazzesi

after he had put the money, he went

e kamma kepa hazzesi

after he had done the work, he went

7. The affix retll and its negative form aretu is

used to express a purpose or consequence—

nanu weheniretu, hanniretu, zoliniretu,

meheniretu, e gianga wenniretu hazza

wai
I have come as I told, as I went, as I spoke, as

I saw, as I heard those words

heda aretu evanai shiksha kijatee

I punished him, that he should not get spoiled

ninu waaretu enaa kijai

what can I do, that you are not coming

ninge wahu waaretu nanu dekitee

I carried it that you should have no trouble

8. Very commonly the imperative form is used to

express a purpose
—

kepamu hotane

I intend to do
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xnraka uhamu inzihi nange onputarijate

I remembered, that I should plant trees

5

Adverbial Sentences expressing Consequence.

These sentences are formed by adding the affix lehe

to the verbal noun.

kommo kandi diha hannilehe gall weza
tuste

the wind blew so, that the big and small

branches broke

uzedi anilehe lenza hote

the moon arose to give light

6

Adverbial Sentences expressing Manner.

1. Sentences expressing agreement and similarity.

The affixes lehe, tiruti or tiruti lehe are added to the

verb.

mimbu westilehe kepi mannomi
we are doing as you told us

weda uzedi hinilehe imbini harku linzee

so much light as the sun gives, no other thing

lightens (nothing gives as much light as the

sun).

mi ishtomi anilehe onpadu
think as you like

tanu onpitilehe ate

it happened as he thought
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tanu westi tiruti (lehe) kepitesi

lie did as he said

2. Sentences expressing proportion.

The afl&x koldi is used, added to a present or past

relative participle.

piju rinikoldi nela ane

in proportion as the rain fell, the crop grows

i raziharaki hommu hinikoldi pih'wri

in proportion as you give to these country

people, they do not leave you

mimbu kamma kepinikoldi kiili hijai

in accordance to your work T shall pay

7

Adverbial Sentences expressing Time or Condition.

In such sentences a large number of afl&xes is used.

1. The affixes tolli, mazzatie, mazzati toUie

are added to the negative verbal participle and means

before.

ninu waanaha tollie nanu watee

I came before you came

manekanga zarna aamazzati ziwedkani

paramusheesi zarnikittesi

God created animals before he created men

nanu reamazzati tollie illu dossa ma^zeri

they had builc the house before I entered

5
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2. The affix lie is added to an infinitive and means :

as soon us—

nanu hazzalie na tanzi watesi

as soon as I uent, my father camo

evasi takalie, hottalie, rljalie nanu

messalie daggiri wajalie, sajomi kepa-

lie evasi ningitesi

as soon as he walked, as soon as he ran, as

soon as he felt, as soon as I saw it, as soon

as I came near, and as soon as I helped him,

he arose

3. The affixes wentee, entee, tatsonomie

tordee are added to the positive present or past parti-

ciples, and mean : directly or the moment that—

nanu osso hitti wentee nehi atesi

he got well directly after I gave medicine

weda hoti tatsonomie uzedi ane

the moment the sun rises, it gets light

kni

kamma kepiti tordee kuli hijai

I shall pay you directly you have done your

work

The affixes ati samemita, patunuta are

idded to the relative participles and mean :
—when

ninu barita hannati (hazzati) mestatee

I saw you, when you went to school
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mambu zadiwini patunuta imbaari waa-

peri

when we are readiDg, nobody shall come

i mranu rini samenita enaari hillaateri

nobody was there when the tree fell

evasi hanni samemita hara zana tani-

tuUe kuda hoza hazzeri

many people went with him when he went.

Remaek.—The word patunuta niay be translated by

the Telugu word ZP^7\^^

5. The words mannati, mazzati are added to

verbal participles and have the same meaning.

nanu i kamma kepihi mannati traju pisa

lunzate

when I did this work I got a headache

traka pisa lunza mazzati kamma kepali

adaatee

when I had a headache I could not work

nanu waa mannati or waanaha mannati

when I do not come

6. The affixes atihallehe, mannati ballehe are

added to verbal participles and mean : whenever

mimbu edani tizati hallehe' nanaa on-

padu
whenever you eat this, remember me
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kokarai mestatihallehe pusponi westee

whenever I saw boys I related them a story

piju rihi mannatihallelie hizidi ane

whenever it rains, it gets cool

7. The affix nani may be used and has the

meaning: when

na mrika watinani nange hara raha
hotane

when my sons came I had much joy

8. The affixes tanatiCj nezutie are added to past

participles and mean :
—

since, from the time that.

nanu osso utti tanatie band! pisa pistate

since I took medicine my stomach ache is gone

e\rasi wati nezutie piju rihi manne
since he came it is raining

9. The affix embatie may be used in the same

meaning, but it is always added to a personal verb.

mimbu hommu hitteri embatie mi raid-

ingatomi atomi

Ik since you gave money we became your ryots

Pr 10. The affixes pateka, daka are added to a

relative participle and mean : till, by the time, that as

long as.

evasi wende wani pateka i izzo reza-

manna

stay in this house till he comes back

27
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anderi anidaka ni kamma kepa
work till it gets dark

11. The affixes daju, zezo are added to relative

participles and mean : after, after that.

mituUe zolki atidaju kamma hijaiki

hijooki westai

after I have spoken with you, I shall tell you,

if I will give you work or not

mane hazzi zezo donganga hoteri

after people went away, thieves came

evari wati daju zinnikinova

let us see, after they have come

12. The affix ezzeka is added to relative parti-

ciples and means—as far as, as much as.

evasi weh'eni ezzeka maro ta'no

let us bring as much as he told

tanu manni ezzeka behetari nehi ahi

mazzeri

as long as be was there, they all behaved well,

ninge telha manni ezzeka evaraki bodha

kepamu
teach them as far as you know

Similar to these adverbial sentences expressing time,

three phrases to express time must be learned.

1. na traka pisa tini ganta pateka ate

for three hours I have had a headache
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2. tanu wati tini dinati ivasi hazzesi

he went three days after he came

3, ode rinite wanesi

still two days and he will come

Kemark.—In the two last cases the dative case may be

used too.

8. Adverbial Sentences expressing Restriction.

These sentences are formed by adding gani, warre,

samina to the ruling verb.

evasi randa hijatesi gani panzaatee
he gave me rice, but I was not satisfied

evasi mranutitunhesi warre rondi ezzeka

kihi tunh'atesi

he cut the tree, but did not cut evenly or

straight

7.

VERBAL TENSES.

1. The progressive present and past tenses.

LL Those tenses are always used in reference to some-

)&ing regarded as actuUy taking place at a permanent

[period.

Levari

tota kamma kepi manneri

they are doing garden work

evari toUi tota kamma kepa manneri

they were formerly doing garden work
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imbati umbataki hazzi mai
I am going from here to there

imbati umbataki nanu purwomi hazza

mai
I was formerly going from here to there

This tense may be used of a future action too.

saluritaki wie mambu hazzi mannomi
we are going tomorrow to Salur

2. The habitual present and future tense.

This tense is used to express habit or custom.

himborka imbia huzzineri ?

where do they weave clothes ?

neska mukhnu

dogs bark

i neska mukh'u

these dogs do not bark

wie i mranu tunomi

we shall cut the tree to-morrow

3. The past tense.

This tense is used to express past time. There is

only one form for the past tense, and therefore Kuvi

differs in this way from Telugu, which has two forms, as

^^-^^ and §r^^^B^.
SO eo

evasi hareka hommu kakuligattaraki

hittesi

he gave much money to the poor



209

evasi nange hommu hijatesi

he gave me money

idi tani mrieni uppara litte

she wept for her son

4. The verb man.

This verb has sometimes the meaning of the English

verb to have or to possess. It is then used with the

dative.

R
nange talli tanziska manner!

J have parents

minge nehi illu manneki ?

have you a nice house ?

evanaki bhumi zaga hillee

he possesses no fields

ninge onputa manzaneki nezutai ?

to you remember the matter of that day ?

Eemabk 1.—In positive sentences of this kind the verb

is sometimes omitted.

ninge ezzora zana mrika ?

how many sons have you ?

Eemabk 2.—When in English the verb to be is placed

1^
between the subject and an adjective,

^^^^H| man is omitted in positive sentences.

v^m evasi heo telhinasi

1^^ he is very wise
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idi naai

she is my wife

idi miai

tins is your wife

hudi huarai

that woman there is theirs

evasi nehasi ae (ausi)

he is not good

ni kamma nehai ae

your work is not good

i mranu ozitai ae

this tree is not nice

evari haree batkitaeri

they are very rich ones

ma odu nehasi

our king is a good one

e punga kadlinga

those flowers are red

Bemark 3.—The verb man, when it is the copula, and is

placed in English between subject and a

noun, in Kuvi no vei'b is used in the

positive, but added in the negative.

evasi na kuligattasi

this is my cooly

ivari naari auri

these are not mine (people)
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Kemabk 4.—The verb man (be) preceded by ahi or

aha is used impersonally.

takali haree wahu aha manne
it is very troublesome to walk

ninge bandi pisa ahi manne ki

have you stomach acke

Ininzu

haree kaka aha manne
it is very not do-day

na angaki haree kaka aha manzane

my body is very hot (feverish)

5. Changes in the Predicate.

When the predicate consists of a noun and the

subject is a pronoun of the first or second person, the

Doun in the predicate is to be changed as follows :
—

1. When the subject is nanUj the termination of

the nanu in the predicate is tee.

nanu tanzitee I am a father

nanu mrienitee I am a son

or nanu mrienatee I am a son

t
nanatee I am the elder sister

„ mangatee I am a daughter
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2. When the subject is ninu, the termination of

noun is in the predicate is ti«

ninu tanziti
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Remaek.—The negative of all the above forms is expressed

by adding the negative verbal forms of the

verb a (become).

nanu kammgattatee aoni or ae

I am no workman

ninu nehati audi or ae

you are not a good person

mambu kokatomi aomi or ae

we are no boys

maro hannatohi aohi or ae

we are no going away ones

(we are not persons, who go away)

mimbu hinateri auderi or ae

you are no givers

6. Difference between manna ana^ha and hiUa-

anaha.

The word manna anaha generally has the sense

of staying, stopping ; the word hiUa anaha has the

sense of being, existing, possessing.

ivasi hommn hilla anaha imbaa manna
anaha hazzesi

he, having no money, not staying here, went

away

ninzu zurunga hilla anaha mannomi
we are staying without food

28



214

tanzi manassu hilla aki hazzesi

as the father did not like it, lie want away

iianu manna aki evasi nange hello hija

tesi

lie ordered me not to stay

ossotaki manna anaha izzo hazzee

I went home not staying for medicine

osso hilla anaha izzo hazzee

I went home as there was no medicine

DiFFEEENCB BETWEEN mannaa and hillaa-

As above already mentioned, so here, mannaa is

used in the sense of stopping, staying, but hilla in the

sense of being, existing.

rel bandita mannaa mlehanga loiter!

the people, who were not in the railway, re-

mained

e totata hillaa patka nanu enata^ tai

how can I bring fruits, when they are not in th

garden

e nato nanu mannaa illu imbinai hillee

there is no house in town in which I have not

been

nanuwani pateka mannaa kokarainanu

siksha kepii

I shall punish the boys who do not stay till I

come
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Sometimes hillaa is used in those sentences which

express an habitual sense.

barita hillaa kokari hedineri

boys who are not at school, get spoiled

but: barita ninzu mannaa kokari hallehe

weitihe shiksha aiieri

The boys who are not (but usually they are

coming to school) in the school to-day will be

punished tomorrow morning

nanu mannaa samemi hendihi izzo hodga

wateri

looking for the moment when I would not be

there, they went into the house

In the same way mannaa or hillaa are equally

ined in sentences as :
—

nammakomi ahi mannaa gattarakiranda

hillee

or : nammakomi ahi hillaa gattaraki randa

hillee

faithless men have nothinsr to eat

kanka mannaa gattaraki dana himn

or : kanka hillaa gattaraki dana himu

give to men, who (have no eyes) are blind.
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Difference between a and hil-

The word a expresses always a quality, but hil a

quantity in a negative sense.

evasi nehasi ae

he is not a good man

mambu kuvingatomi aomi

we are no Khonds

imbaa doso zana hilluuri

there are not ten persons here

i illu nehai ae

this house is not nice

i illu nehi hillee

this house is not nice

evani nomeri pisteki ? ae ! pissa hillee

has his fever gone ? No ! it is not gone

embaa doso zana kokari manneriki ?

are there ten boys ?

ae! hilluuri

no 1 they are not
"

nanu nehi hilloo

I am not well

nanu izzo mannoo

or : nanu izzo hilloo

I am not at home
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7. THE USE OF PRONOMINAL AFFIXES.

Some pronominal affixes are used as predicate, where

in English the verb to be is the copula.

The negative is expressed by adding the verb ae.

i mranu enilehetai

what kind of tree is this ?

na himborka opunai au

my clothes are not white ones

i patka laknai

these fruits are sweet ones

mimbu imbini natotateri ?

what village people are you ?

mambu Saluritatomi

we are Salur people

evari imbatari auri

these are not from here

i puju eni wanatai ?

this flower is of what colour ?

hinga wanatai

it is of a yellow colour

These affixes are frequently used to express compa-

[itive and superlative degrees of comparison.

eju kiha kassa kazaitai

blood is thicker than water

tubbi kiha kla'ni karbigattai

the tiger is more powerful than a leopard



218

i manzinga kiha e manzinga nehai

this rice is better tlian that

i kokari loni ivasi laggeetasi

among tliese boys this is the worst

i laggeetari loni ivasi haree laggeetasi

he is the worst of the badones

These affixes are also used to express possession.

Thus :—

i himbori imbaanai ?

to whom belongs this cloth ?

i raidinga naari

these ryots are mine

i dokanga nawai, ewi miwai au

these pots are mine, these are not yours

i badga Kamudawai

these sticks belong to Kamudu

i hommu na tonewai

this money is my friend's

i illu Martinwai

this house belongs to Martin

edi nadi, nidi, evanai
^
} - , . ... f

evaniwai 5
^^^^^ ^^^^4

evarai
evariwai

this is mine, thine, his, ours, yours, theirs

evaskawai

this belongs to them (fem. or neutr.)
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These affixes are sometimes affixed to postpositions-

i bomma na gadilonitai ae

this picture is not from my room

i pinanga na illu lekkotai au

these tiles are not those upon my house

na hala lonitai, nehai godanga
the horses in my stable are good ones

ni dalli lonitai eni patka ?

in your basket, what fruits are there ?

ni kejutai enai \ what is that in your
ni muttitai enai 3 hand P

8.

FORMATION OP COMPOSITE NOUNS.

1. As already mentioned before, a class of com-

posite nouns is formed by adding the pronominal affixes

asi^ esi, asi^ ari, ai? ai aska.

These pronominal affixes may also be affixed to any

of the relative participles.

Thus :—

kepi manni
—

kepi mannasi = he who does

kepini
—

kepinasi = he who does

kepiti
—

kepitasi
= he who did

kepaa
—

kepaatasi = he who does (did)

not
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Remaek.—There is a slight difference between kepa-

atasi and kepaagattasi. The firstl

means a man, neglected his work for a

certain time, but the latter means a man,

who is habitually lazy.

ivasi kepaagattasi nista tija aha man-

nesi

he is a man, who does not work, a lazy man

Each composite noun can again be compound with

the verbal form wai, which means : it is, there are, it

belongs.

i illu dohonani wai

this house belongs to him who built it

i patka kodditaniwai

these fruits belong to them, who bought them

i illu nehaniwai

this house belongs to a good man

e bhumi kazzaniwai

that field belongs to a great man

Remaek.—A noun must be used instead of the verbal

form wai J if this stands in the masculine or

feminine geuder.

i kokari illu dohonani mrika

these boys are sons of the man who built the

house
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i potanga imbati watani maska
these girls are daughters of the man who came

from there

i mrika nehani mrika
these soDK belong to a good man

1. Idiomatic use of composite nouns formed from

positive indefinite relative participles.

In such sentences the composite noun always occu-

]3ies the position of the last word and can be conjugated.

mambu toUi e gadata mannatomi
we were formerly staying in that town

maro papomi kepinatohi
we are sinners

mimbu evanaki sajomi kepinateriki,

auderi ?

used you to help him or not ?

i barita hara zana mannari

there are usually many persons in this school

ma kodinga halata mannai
our oxen are usually in the stable

ninu evanaki kuli hinatiki?

PI
used you to pay him cooly ?

2. Composite nouns formed from relative parti-

ciples.

k e wanasi Latchigeeki

I
or : e wani Latchiga ivasieki

is the man who comes there, Lakshmudu ?

29
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mimbu kepinai eni kamma ?

or : mimbu kepini kamma enai ?

what is the work you are doing ?

mimbu razinai Telugu pustakomiki? Kuvi

pustakomi ?

or : mimbu razini pustakomi Teluguki, Kuvi ?

is the book which you are writing Telugu or

Kuvi?

ninu tinnai manzingaki ?

or : ninu tinni manzinga iwieki ?

is that what you are eating, rice ?

(is it rice, what you are eating)

imbataki wanasi nehi hauteeki ?

or imbataki wani hunta nehasieki ?

is the nayudu, who came there, a good man ?

The positive verbal noun of the second form is some

times used, where the future tense might be used.

nanu kepinai enai ?

what shall I do ? I

e kokaraki zapnai enikihi ?

how shall I teach those boys

e nato hannai imbini ziju ?

which is the way to that town ?
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9.

SUBORDINATE SENTENCES-

A negative progressive tense may be formed by the

adding of hiUee to the verbal noun.

nanu i kamma kepinai hillee

I am not doing this work

nanu embaa wanai hillee

I am not coming there

Sentenees of this kind are formed by affixing a to

the verb. These sentences correspond then to such

English sentences as contain the word : whoever, what-

ever, whosoever, etc.

imbaasi i kamma kepuusia shikshinsii

whosover does not do this work, I will punish

imbaasi na ishtomilehe kepinesia ziwukii

whosoever does according to my will, I love

imbini koju anga aha mannea edani

koddii

whichever fowl is fat, I will buy

When the subordinate sentence is put first, an

English correlative sentence is expressed.

Thus :—

sajomi imbaaraki kawalea mazzo wapari
whoever want help, let them come to our house
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The use of imiaasi in these subordinate sentences

is as follows :
—

e kokariloni haree hoonasi imbaasia

babumanomi pa'nesi

whichever of these boys runs well, receives a

prize

e kodingaloni nehai imbinaia edani kod-

dadu

buy of those oxen, whichever is good

The word atiwa is often idiomatically affixed to

the pronoun imbaasi.

Thus :—

zadata imbaasatiwa loinesia evanaki

kla'ni azzi

whoever remains in the forest has fear of a

tiger

The word imbini in these subordinate sentences is

used as follows :
—

imbini mleha i osso unnesia evasi hanesi

whichever takes that medicine, will die

imbini walka te'nua, etkee itta

whichever stones are strong, put aside

The word ezzora iu these sentences is used as

follows :
—
ezzora zana manneria bahetaraki kuli

bimu

as many as are there, give cooly to all
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ezzora zana osso utteria nehi ateri

as many as have taken medicine, got well

ezzora zanataki westeea bahe wateri

as many as I told, all came

ezzora pustakomika ninge akkaraa ezzekee

hijai

as many books as you need, I will give

The words ezzeka, enilehetai, etc., in these sen-

3uces are used as follows :
—

ezzeka kuli ninge wanaia ezzekee hijai

as much cooly hire as you have to get, I will

pay

nange ezzeka hijaneria evanaki ezzekee

hidu

give them as much as they give me

na naju enilehetaia edani elie kidu

make your town as mine

ezzeka gaddu kamma kideria izzekee la-

bhomi
as much as you work, so much profit

nanu ezzela waia (wainia) appudi westai

I shall tell when I come

mimbu nange enileheti ziwu kijaderia

ezzekee evaraki zakke kidu

love them as much as you love me

idani karidi ezzekea wensa

ask what the price of it is
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Reference to the Affix habtl.

Some examples will show the difference between

habu (perhaps) and a-

evasi hatesi habu kanukoddamu

perhaps he died, enquire

piju wane habu inzihi mokonga uhitee

perhaps rain may come, therefore I planted

plants

na tonesi wanesi habu inzihi randa

wazzi kittee

perhaps my friend comeSj therefore I cooked

rice

i mranu riha hanne habuzagrata ahi

manna
be careful, perhaps the tree may fall down

evasi hunsimannesi habu nikha he'emu

perhaps he is sleeping, see if he is awake or

not

10.

MISCELLANEOUS INFORMATIONS.

I

ON GIVING AN ANSWER.

1. If a question is put with a noun, tte answer is

generally given by repeating the noun.

ivasi panteesiki ? hao panteesi
is he a Panta Brahmin ? Yes
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2. If a question is put with a verb, the answer

is generally given by repeating the verb.

i kamma kepitiki ? ae kepa hilloo

have you done the work ? I have not done it

waneriki? hao, waneri, ae wauri

are you coming ? Yes, they are coming ; no, they

are not coming

3. The following idiomatic answers must be

noticed :
—

A. e horu mestiki ?

have you seen that hill ?

B. nanu ae, evasi mestesi

not I, (but) he saw it

A. ni tanzi imbanai hatitesi ?

whom did your father call ?

B. nanaa ae, e kokarai

not me, (but) those boys

II.

ON BLESSING AND CURSING.

mfk To express such sentences, the imperative, or infi-

nite tenses are used.

ninge sukhomi mannapeko

may you be happy

ninge sajomi apeko

may j^ou get help
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ninu nehi adima, manzima

may you get well, be well

mlenga hazzima

may you perish

bossomahi hallamu, (hazzima)

may you perisli

Til.

ON GREETING.

When greeting the Khond puts one hand near his

face, (not to his forehead as the Telugu does) and uses

the word zohora at the occasion of coming or going.

This word is mostly shortened into zora and always

compound with aba or ija (father or mother).

zoraba

Salam, Sir

zoraja

Salam, Madam

zohoraba

is used, if the addressed is standing at some

distance, or if a request is made

ninge sata bede zohoroba, hijamu
seven times supplications, please give me
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IV.

ON SOME AFFIXES.

1 . The affix leka.

This word has the meaning of the English affix full

and is used as follows :

dalleka patka tamu, or dalliti patka

bring a basket full of fruits or the fruits of the

basket

dalleka lekka patomi
we received at the rate of a basket

2. The affix e^zcka-

This word denotes size or greatness and is change-

able according to the noun connected with it.

Jerichoti kodanga horu ezzeka pirnu
the walls of Jericho were as high as hills

i koju guddu aswa guddu ezzai

this fowl's egg is as big as a duck's egg

ni kanka kodru kanka ezzai• • •

your eyes are as big as those of a bufialow

ni ezzari westehe wennuudiki ?

if such great men as you talk, will you not hear ?

Goliatu ro kazza mranu ezzeka pliza

mazzesi

Goliath was as big as a big tree

art
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3. The affix kode*

This word denotes a restrjction and stands mostly

after the word inzihi- It means : although, even, but.

evasi wanesinzihi kode nammoo
I do not even believe, that he will come

na kuli nenze hijainzatesi kode hijaatesi

he promised me full coolj hire but did not give;

it

zaduwu mristai inzatesi kode mristaatesii

he promised to teach reading, but did not teach

una una kamma kepaminzatesi kode)

kepaatesi

although he was told to do such little work, he

did not do it

pasa takka hijainzatesi kode Eamudai

wirpatesi
he promised to pay five Rupees, but Ramudu.

spoiled it

but : na keju perhi kode ninge hijoo

my hand even liftiug (swearing) I do not give

4, The affix maha.

This word expresses a doubt and can be translated!

into English with :
—which ever, might be.

enaa maha westa da

which might it be, tell me

enaa maha bana atee

which it was, I have forgotten
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5. TuE AFFIXES anehabu, atehabu, esse.

These words commonly added to the verbal noun or

a personal verbal noun, mean :
—I suppose.

evasi wanai anehabu

I suppose he comes

evasi hittai atehabu

I suppose, he gave

evasi wanasi esse

I think he comes

e kodi hatai atehabu

or e kodi hate habu

I suppose that ox died

e kokari hottari ateri habu

or e kokari hotteri habu

or e kokari hottari esse

or e kokari hottai atehabu

I suppose those boys ran away

na mriesi gelhitasi atesi habu

or na mriesi gelhitai atehabu

or na mriesi gelhitesi habu

or na mriesi gelhitasi esse

h I think my son won

.EMABK.—In the same sense are the affixes atiwS or

wa used.

^
evasi wanesatiwa

I suppose he comes
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6. The affix summi.

This word is commonly used instead of he'emuj

(look, indeed).

he'mude hijatee summi
look there, I gave it indeed

ninu tagga ahi wanai summi

look, you must come quick

e kodi haree kadija summi
the price of that ox is very high indeed

7. The affix nani.

This word is affixed to a verb and has the meaning :

it is of no use to wait, therefore.

evasi hijuusi hanno nani

he does not give, let us go therefore

wauri dehe tinno nani

they are not coming, therefore let us eat

pistuusi hinonani

he does not relax, let us give therefore

hommu hijoonani
I do not pay at-all

enaataki haspi anaida^ hijainani, omu

why are you quarrelling ? I give already, take it

hino naningo
all right, let us give id

pasa takka hiha mazze^ hatenaningo
I paid five rupess (but it is of no use), it died
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8. The affix ke.

The word ke, aflBxed to a word, means :
—

they say,

it is said (dicitur).

When Konds relate a story, this word is aflBxed

nearly to every word and sounds very unpleasant.

hijanesike

he will give, they say

sata zana daiingake^ roosi kanka gudilake

roosike ri krika berake, ro mriesike

koddanga sottake, ro mriesike ri keska

kollake, roosike kla'niwana gattaske

roosi razu wana gattaske, roosi gohi

wana gattaske aha mazzerike

There were once seven brothers, one was blind,

one was deaf in both ears, one son was lame

on his legs, one son was weak in both arms,

one had the figure of a tiger, one was a

serpent and one was like an iguana.

^^TM^

9. The affixes da and ka, etc,

Tne word da is very commonly used to address a

[man, and the word ka is used to address a woman.

wada come boy, man

^aka come girl, woman
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To address persons in the plural number the affixes

erida and erika are used, or the verb put in the plural

number.

wa erida come men

wa erika come women

or wadu da come men

wadu ka come women

Various affixes for addresses of more politeness

are : ango, ngo, asi, ersi, anga, eringa

wadungO please come

Gauru hijaasi, Gauri, please give

Gauru koddeerisL Gauri, please take it

5^ eneerisij Gauri, please take it

ango ! Sitati Gauruteri waeringa

eh ! you Sita and Gauri, please come !

evari wateringa

they came (respectfully)

evari waterikinga ?

did they come

waterisi

they came (respectfully)

hijateriesi

they gave ?
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10. The affix le.

This word is very commonly used as an affix to

express certainty.

ninge enaataki bizara^ bizara k^jaani^

ninge hijai le

why are you sorry, don't trouble me, I certainly

give

wanesi le

he comes certainly

ONOMATOPAIC TERMS.

1. There are certain words which have no actual

meaning, but which represent some particular sound or

some particular sensation.

ninu i kamma kepamizzihe) enaataki

ninu dalladalla trikidi ?

when I told you to do this work, why are you

trembhing so much ?

evasi hazziwaha kizowi wessalie rarra

inzihi kakheri

when he came and made fun, they laughed so

loud

evasi maramara atesi

he got dirty ; he was troubled
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zerre merreti kamma kida

is this not an impossible work ?

lebbelebbe ahi zolki aderi, ningadu, kam-

ma heradu

you talk uselessly, stop talking and join tlie
|

work

razu soUosollo izze (sorrcsorro)

the snake is rattling

ijaska lebbelebbe anu

women are gossipping

mane gezza gezza gezza aha nenza man

neri

all is full of men

oUeoUe Mjai (odeode)

I give constantly

2. Sometiriies another word, which has a different

special meaning, is added to a noun to give a particular

idea. The first noun then loses its original meaning.

arna zada kodditee

I bought grains (and forest)
'

eju kudu miha wamu
j

bring water (and rice) to pour 1

himbori dukki huzza wamu
come after dressing



287

kla'li doweli ta'mti

bring beal and a knife

kuza demki hannomi

we go for vegetables

3. The word which has to express a particular

sensation is sometimes doubled.

kekejuta kihihi uphe oneri

with all hands, they took it carrying away

rorOOSi = one by one

ririari

riariari
. > two by two

4. The present participle is very often doubled to

give the verb a special force.

lagi lagi hazzeri

they went scolding

hazzi hazzi lagiteri

she scolded when they were going

hotti hotti torgiteri

running they fell

torgi torgi litteri

they wept, when they were falling

lihi lihi wateri

they came weeping
31\
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5. Some adverbs are used fco express a special

sensation.

pottoninga hatesi

he died suddenly 1

evasi zona zengu tikhimazzati leddeninga

pinzitee, lappuninga astee, tobboninga

tattee

when some one was gathering zonna, I sprung

quick, got him quick and brought him quickly

6. In some instances a word is sometimes repeated.

The first consonant with its following vowel is then

changed into
gi.

This expression sometimes implies a

certain despair or disrespect.

imbaa weska hillau giska hillau

here is no wood, nothing

nange randa hillee ginda hillee

I have no rice, nothing

kokasi hilluusi gikasi hilluusi

there is not even a boy

imbaa taju, giju hillee

here is no place, nothing

ziju hillee, giju hillee

there is no way, nothing
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XI.

COMBINATION OF TWO WORDS.

When two words are to be united, of which the first

is ending and the latter beginning with a vowel, these

two vowels generally get united into one, according to

the following rules.

Remark.—1. This combination is not so commonly used

as in the Telugu language, as the Kuvi

^ language is used to have two vowels

^^K staying close together.

Common rule is as follows :

i and i change into i

pllEMAE

e ,y
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i kamma kepiti enataki

why did you do this work ?

endunga endamu

play games

takka enaataki

why a rupee

eju nttesi

be drank water

ija wane e?zela

when comes the mother

kepitenataki

endungendamu

takkenaataki

ejuttesi

ija wanezzela

2. When the vowel of the first word prevails.

ma aba
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he aba
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verbal termination or any termination is affixed to a verb

or any word, the final vowel takes the same sound as the

affixed one.

hille USi changes into hiUuUSi (he is not)

namma o

ezzela e

lakka e

zadata e
•

kepa

kepa e

Exception.— 1

„ nammoo (I do not believe)

5, ezzelee (when)

„ lakkee (therefore)

55 zadatee (in the forest)

,• kepoo (I do not)

J, kepee (she does not do)

The word ronda (one thing) and rinda

(two things) changes the vowel a

into i.

ronda into rondie

rinda into rindie

The forms rondee and rindee may be also used.

Exception.—2. When the first vowel forms the root o:

a verb, it cannot be changed.

wa a





244

hiimbaa
hembaa
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12

PHRASES.

perha Otesi kodinga he drove the oxen away

perha otesi walli he lifted up the stone

traju zespikihi rittesi he fell heels over head

nange raha hotane I am rejoiced

wala santati hadanga useless words

i xnranu dekinesi

i ^oka zuzinesi

bitriti hada

enai mahake

hunna (,oOc5\)

nanu hillaa hunnata ("^c*5b e^o^^Y^ c^)
when I was not here

e illu hunna aha manne the house is empty

mahunnatawahamaz- they came, when we

he carried the tree

he carried the pot (upon

the head)

the internal sense

who knows !

emptiness, nothing ; used

as noun

zeri

westani
westanani

i

.]am) wenzai

wenzanani westai

wenzaanani weh'o

82

were not there

I liear the spoken (thing)

(what has. been said)

1 tell the asked (matter)

(I give the information

called for)

I do not tell, what is not

asked
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he beat

he beat

messali hazzee

zinnikijali „

hendali )

henga 5
"

herikijali »

bezali

meska

paitesi

wetesi

pahitesi

traju zespikihi pahi

rittesi

patalangitesi

ozakerhi rittesi

kahi hazzu

kahi hazzu

kaha hazza

izzai hazze

izai hazze

I went to see

haie paitesi heMled

haie wetesi » „

he fell heels over head

he fell head over heels

he fell on his back

he fell on his side

go to play

they (females) went to play

after play, they went away

a little is gone

the little one (fern.) is

gone

leema ezzani tammu bring me a bit, (as much

as a finger's nail)

i^zona nange hijamu give me a little

ro bonda eju hija aba give me a little water, sir,

(a drop of water)

ro bonda zaju hija give me a little sauce,

ake madam !
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ro kadu bonda hija give me a little brandy,

ade Sir

iz^eka una^ so little so less (only a little bit)

i??eka una hijadi do you give only such a

little

On Much, Many, More.

hara zana wateri many people came

hareka zana wateri „ „ „

gaddu zana wateri ,, „ „

gaddue hittesi

harekee hittesi

harona hittesi

haronee hittesi

agada hittesi

e^^ona hittesi

he gave much

he gave more

how much did he give

bellee nanni

zenn kermu

napo mumbu kepa

o^a kermu

tini totto kermu

tebri totto kermu

(©Oe's;^x) very well

turn back

turn your face to me

turn aside

turn to the right side

turn to the left side

i gadeka takie kijada give it to me now

noro wahimanneri people are coming

weda tumbite the sun set
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weda hazze the sun set
a •

weda klute .» » „

weda medite ,, ,, ,»

weda rete », ,» ,,

weite ("SoSJ^Qofii)

it dawned

weda hote the sun rose

weda engite ?» >i >>

enaratihe mingenai whoever is thei-e* what

does it matter to you ?

enarizzihe i

enaratihe > odenai or mingenaataki
enaratiwa)

-tV'hoever i^ there, what does it matter to you ?

e pusponi imbatie mutte the story is at an end

herewith

uzzeka heotasi -^

[*
a man, who is so far

rozzeka heotasi

izzeka heotasi

enaratiwa hilluuri nobody is there

nins a wetateriki ? ueda l
(-^o-^ )

ueKa 3

liave they beaten you ? No.

evasi assuli nehasi

he is really (permanent) a good man
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assuli bangara da ?

is it pure gold ? man

sonna lehetasi a man like gold (as good

as gold)

nehikihi zonginesi a man who rules well

koju hipangani zongamanne
the hen keeps the little one under her wings

i odu tarzanesi ^^be king rules badly (scrat-
'

ches)

koju tarzine the hen (does not protect

its chickens but) scrat-

ches

evasi nehikihi astan- he is a good listener

asi

evasi nehikihi astan- be is a good catcher

asi

ni uppareema Ida bailee kepitee

of course I did all this for you ...

onputa rinai

onputa wanai

onputa hotanai

or onpinai

kamba tuh'nai

maza tuh'nai

metha tuh'nai

to remember

to ripen

to ripen

to throw away
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panda tnk'aai
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hani wate I

haha mannesi 3

hilleie I

hillalie hilleeJ

jadeka manzaha

weda wate

death came (he died really)

^^"^250^ not at all

staying for a moment

the sun came (not ^^
a

ki

f^(^5 as in Telugu)

lenZU wate the moon came

niedehe a little while

nietie ^rom now

azitie from now

nxnzutie from to-day

i kamma aailehe meh'mu edaju atihe hommu
himu

see that the work is done, and after it has been done

give money

nanu ni muhe karma ajatilehe ninu zakke

amu
as I had mercy upon you, so also do you

ninge karma anilehe tdstamu

show that you have mercy

paradu pa'deri

search and you will find

rondi ez^eka kihi kepinai

according to one size to do (to do exactly)

e gija tani h^jata ittakoddite gani wekhee

she keeps that saying in her mind, but does not

publish it
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evani lekkeese, patuuse anda atee

I was mixed up with his fate, with his destiny

bizza mattitomi we sowed seeds (ssooeo)
CO

eju zallitomi we sprinkled water (g^OOto)

ro hada zallitee I spoke a word

raha hazze the joy is over

raha raha hazze the joj is over

ninge nammakomi hillaape

you may not believe

ninge nammakomi hillaapomi^ hannomi
we mq,y not be faithful to you, therefore we go

mazzihe hijadi, hilla atihe hijuudi
if you give, well, if nqt, never mind

eski




